
 

 
Port of Olympia Mission 

Creating economic opportunities and building community for all of Thurston County through responsible resource use. 

 
 

 
 

Commission Meeting 
Monday, February 9, 2026 

4:00 PM 
 

Percival Plaza – Olympics Room 
626 Columbia Street NW, Suite 1-B 

Olympia, WA  98501 
 

The meeting agenda is available on the Port’s website as of February 5, 2026. 
https://www.portolympia.com/commission 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Pledge 

C. Approval of Agenda 

D. Executive Director Report 

E. Public Comment  

NOTE:  Guidelines for public comment can be found in the Commission Rules in Resolution 2026-02 Article VI. 
• Comments should be directed to Commission:  Comments should be directed to the Commission as a whole and 

should not include comments about individual Port staff or members of the public. 
• Courtesy:  All speakers (members of the public, Port staff, and Commissioners) shall be courteous in  

language and demeanor and shall confine remarks to those facts that are germane and relevant to the  
question or issue under discussion. 
 

F. Commission Response to Public Comment / Follow-Up to Public Comment 

G. Partner Spotlight:  Hands On Children’s Museum 

H. Consent Calendar 

1. Bills and Vouchers for January 2026 

Warrant over $200,000:  Warrant for $241,053.70 for Thurston County Auditors – General Elections 

2. Commodities Unlimited Lease Amendment #17 

I. Action Calendar 

1. None 

J. Action/Other Calendar 

1. None 

https://www.portolympia.com/commission


 

 
Port of Olympia Mission 

Creating economic opportunities and building community for all of Thurston County through responsible resource use. 

K. Advisory Calendar 

1. Passenger Ferry Service - Demand Study:  Mike Reid, Director of Community and Economic        
Development 
 

L. Commissioner Reports 

M. Additional Public Comment  

This time is devoted to individuals who could not arrive at or register for the meeting earlier.   Public 
comment at this time is for those members of the public who did not submit public comment previously 
during the current meeting. 
 

N. Other Business 

1. Delegation of Authority 

O. Meeting Announcements 

P. Adjourn 

 

 

 

*Attendance and Public Comment Hybrid Meeting Information 
 
Attend Remote or In-Person 
The public are welcome to attend the meeting in person, or may view or listen to the meeting using one of the following platforms:   
 

In-Person: 626 Columbia Street NW, Olympia 
 Olympics Room, Suite 1-B 

 
Zoom: Go to http://www.zoom.us/join and enter Webinar ID 841 8199 2014 and Passcode 953600. 

Instructions and access details (a link to the meeting) will be emailed to you once a short registration form is complete.  (Check 
Spam or Junk folder and move Zoom link email to your Inbox to view/access link.) 
 

YouTube: www.youtube.com/@portofolympia1922 
 

Phone: Call (253) 215-8782, listen for the prompts and enter Webinar ID 841 8199 2014 and Passcode 953600. 
 
Verbal Public Comment     
Those wishing to provide verbal public comment may do so in-person or by Zoom: 
 

In-Person: Use the sign-up sheet located at the meeting location. 
 

Virtual / via 
Zoom: 

Must pre-register using the following Zoom link no later than five (5) minutes after the meeting has com-
menced:   
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_ckoNP90XTX-aeQtF7o3EKg  
 
Instructions and access details (a link to the meeting) will be emailed to you once registration is complete.  (Check Spam or Junk 
folder and move Zoom link email to your Inbox to view/access link.)  Registration for remote/virtual verbal public comment closes 
six (6) minutes after the meeting has commenced.     

 
Written Public Comment 
Written public comment may be submitted to commissioncoordinator@portolympia.com by 12:00 p.m. on the date of the meeting.  
All written comments will be compiled and sent to the Commissioners prior to the meeting. 

http://www.zoom.us/join
http://www.youtube.com/@portofolympia1922
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_ckoNP90XTX-aeQtF7o3EKg
mailto:commissioncoordinator@portolympia.com




















 

1 
 

COVER MEMO 
Briefing Date/Time: February 9, 2026  

Staff Contact/Title: Chris Paolini, Airport Senior Manager, 360.528.8074 
Chrisp@portolympia.com  

Subject:     Commodities Unlimited Lease Amendment #17 

Purpose:    ☐  Information Only     ☒   Decision Needed   

 
Tenant Snapshot: 
Lease Name: Commodities Unlimited 
Leased Address: 7300 Bonniewood SE, Tumwater WA 98501 
Lease Type: Land 
Lease Effective Date: 3/11/1996 
Term: 20 years + 3-year option 
Use: Wood storage, cutting, and wood chipping.   
Employees: Approximately 10 

Background:  
Commodities Unlimited has been with the Port for six decades and is our county’s 
largest recycler of wood debris into a secondary product, specifically they are 
taking bark and wood debris from logged trees and preparing for reuse as 
landscaping materials.  Chris Taylor took over the business formerly known as 
AAA Bark from his father, Mike Taylor.  They work closely with Weyerhaeuser to 
utilize the bark coming from the logs being transported at Marine Terminal. This 
material is collected and taken to their facility in Tumwater to be repurposed into 
beauty bark and used throughout Thurston County.   

Overview: 
Action Item – Approval requested via the Consent Agenda. 

This action is required as an administrative requirement per Port policy 1101. This 
lease amendment #17 is to memorialize the term extension and adjust the rent and 
surety rates for the remainder of the term.   
 

mailto:Chrisp@portolympia.com


 

2 
 

Commodities Unlimited has been and remains in good standing throughout the 
term of their existing lease.  The rest and remainder of the original lease shall 
remain in full force and effect.  
 
Current:  
The lease premises is located in the Airport district, 7300 Bonniewood SE, 
Tumwater WA 98501.   
 

 
 
 
 
Documents Attached:  
Lease Amendment #17 
 
Summary and Financial Impact:  



 

3 
 

• This lease term extension is anticipated to commence March 1, 2026, through 
February 28, 2029.  

  
• Total 3-year airport revenue generated from this lease option: $126,708.72. 
 
Environmental Considerations: 
The lease premises are located within the Port’s Airport District and the Federal 
Aviation Administration (FAA) Runway Approach zone limiting the usable 
purposes for this property. 
 
Our tenant actively works with the Department of Ecology and the City of 
Tumwater to follow environmental regulations.   
 
Options with Pros and Cons:  
 
1. Approve Commodities Unlimited Lease Amendment #17.   

 

Result: The Port retains an existing service provider in our community while 
generating revenue for the Port’s property that falls under the Airport budget. 
 
2. Do not approve Commodities Unlimited Lease Amendment #17. 
 

Result: The Port rejects the desire of the tenant to exercise their option.  The 
lease ends on February 28, 2026.  This will result in lost revenue to the Port and 
would require the tenant to move their operations.   
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Approve Commodities Unlimited Lease Amendment #17 as presented.   
 
 













 

1 
 

COVER MEMO 
Briefing Date/Time: February 9, 2026 

Staff Contact/Title: Alex Smith, Executive Director, alexs@portolympia.com  

Subject:     Electric Ferry Demand Study 

Purpose:    ☒  Information Only     ☐   Decision Needed   

 
Overview:  
Vision 2050 clearly articulates goals and actions around exploring the potential for the 
Port to serve as a cruise ship destination and regional commuter node.  In support of 
that goal, Vision 2050 incorporates the following action items: 
 

Action Item #26: Continue to track State-led ferry service studies and evaluate 
the feasibility of the Port’s potential role as the southernmost passenger 
terminal in South Puget Sound.  
 
Action Item #27: Evaluate the feasibility of establishing a “Mosquito Fleet” 
water-taxi system that provides limited-scale transportation service for 
commuters throughout South Puget Sound south of Tacoma. 

 
Background:  
In an effort to advance these action items, in 2025 the Port retained the services of 
Peter Phillips of Colibri NW.  With Peter’s assistance, on May 8, 2025 the Port hosted 
Artemis Technologies for a live demonstration of an electric hydrofoil ferry that 
Artemis manufactures.  
 
The Port continued conversations with Artemis Technologies on their progress and 
advancements to bring their product and service to scale in the Puget Sound and 
worked with Peter Phillips on a concept for a pilot project for passenger ferry service 
from Olympia to Des Moines, where a bus would take passengers to SeaTac Airport.  
At the end of July, 2025, Artemis provided a proposal to the Port for the cost to buy 
or charter one of their vessels for passenger ferry service.   
 
In addition, Port staff discussed the idea of passenger ferry service in Olympia with 
Intercity Transit, the entity with statutory authority to run transit systems in our area.  
Intercity Transit indicated it was not interested in investing in passenger ferry service 

mailto:alexs@portolympia.com


 

2 
 

at this time because it was not part of their long term plans.  They did indicate, 
however, that they were willing to sign an Interlocal Agreement to give the Port 
authority to run such a system.  
 
The next steps to understanding the feasibility of passenger ferry service is a demand 
study.  The demand study will identify whether there is enough market demand to 
generate the ridership to support a successful and sustainable passenger ferry service 
in Thurston County.  This will in turn help identify whether there is enough interest in 
ferry service to warrant a feasibility and/or economic benefit study.  An example of a 
ferry demand study completed for Des Moines is attached. 
 
Summary and Financial Impact:  
A demand study is estimated to cost approximately $50,000.   
 
Environmental Considerations:  
The Port is exploring and supporting alternative modes of transportation like ferries 
not only because of economic considerations like tourism but also because they can 
be part of environmental solutions specifically reducing single passenger vehicles from 
the transportation system.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff are supportive of this work as it is clearly is articulated in Vision 2050.  
 
Documents Attached: 
Power Point Presentation 
Des Moines Demand Study 
 
Next Steps/Timeframe:  
Staff will continue to engage and monitor significant activities that align with Vision 
2050 goals.  
 
 



2/5/2026

1

Passenger Ferry Service - Demand Study
Mike Reid

Director of Community and Economic Development
February 9, 2026

Today’s Presentation
Advisory Only

1

2



2/5/2026

2

3

Background
Mosquito Fleet

4

Current Status of Ferry Service
• State-Run Ferry System

• Operates 8 routes that serve 20 terminals
• One passenger-only route
• Maintains a fleet of 21 boats
• Wants to transition boats to hybrid-electric by 2040
• New boats being built in Florida

• Other Ferries:
• King County Water Taxi 

• Operated by King County
• Goes from Seattle to West Seattle and Vashon Island

• Kitsap County Fast Ferries
• Operated by Kitsap Transit
• Goes from Seattle to Bremerton, Kingston and Southworth

• No Ferries Serve Olympia

3

4



2/5/2026

3

5

Actions Taken to Date
 Fast Ferry Demonstration

• May of 2025
• State and local leaders attended

 Explored Concept of a Pilot Run to Des Moines
• To take passengers to SeaTac Airport
• Des Moines is already exploring passenger ferry service to Seattle 
• Artemis provided a proposal to sell or charter a boat to the Port

 Discussed a Pilot Project with Intercity Transit
• It is not in their long-term plans
• Open to an Interlocal Agreement with the Port so Port could sponsor it

 The Port Has Supported Legislation That Facilitates the 
Return of a Mosquito Fleet
• ESHB 1923 – expands what kind of public bodies can establish passenger 

ferry service

6

Possibilities 
 Next Steps on Ferry Service:

1. Demand Study (est. $50,000)
2. Economic Impact Study
3. Feasibility Study
4. Pilot Project
5. Long-Term – Private Operator

 Green Manufacturing:
 Electric Vessels
 Batteries
 Lack of Shipyard Space Regionally
 Willing International Investors
 Known Technologies
 Clean Manufacturing
 Good Jobs

5

6



2/5/2026

4

7

Why Port of Olympia? 

 Ferry Service:
1. Tourism Mission
2. Role in Regional Transportation
3. Vision 2050 Goals

 Green Manufacturing
1. Job Creation
2. Economic Development
3. Environmental Stewardship

a. Clean mode of transportation
b. Clean manufacturing process

4. Vision 2050 Goals

8

Questions

7

8



3/16/2021

1

1© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

The concepts included in this presentation shall not be disclosed outside the scope of the project unless it approved by 
Diedrich RPM and shall not be duplicated, used or disclosed - in whole or in part - for any purpose other than to evaluate 
the parties’ involvement in a project with DRPM.  If, however, an agreement is reached with DRPM as to the performance 
of this project as a result of or in connection with these concepts the parties will have the right to duplicate, use and 
disclose the concepts to the extent provided by the contract. This restriction does not limit the parties’ right to use 
information contained in this presentation if it is obtained from another source without restriction.  

DEMAND STUDY
DES MOINES MARINA 
& PASSENGER FERRY 

CONCEPT
December 4, 2019

2© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 2

DEMAND STUDY MISSION: 

Determine the quantitative demand for a 
proposed marina redevelopment and 

ferry operation and use findings to obtain 
funding and create your go-to-market 

strategy



3/16/2021

2

3© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 3

MEETING OVERVIEW
• Introductions
• Demand Study Overview
• Background 
• DRPM Services
• Phase I.  Presentation to Senior Leadership, Economic and 

Transportation Committees and the City of Des Moines Council
• Phase II. In-Depth-Interviews
• Phase II. Demand Study Proposal
• The Process and Sample Reporting
• Q & A 
• Budget & Timelines
• Terms & Conditions
• Next Steps

4© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 4

PATH TO SUCCESS
Conduct a baseline study to determine potential marina redevelopment and 
passenger ferry usage/buying motivators (segregated by segment) to 
determine market viability and to develop the go-to-market strategy
Step 1.  Study Design Step 2. IDI’s Step 3. Creation of Survey Step 4. & 5. 
Collection of Data and Tabulation, Creation and Delivery of Executive 
Summary, and Strategy for the Business Concept

Step 1

Step 2

Step 3

Step 4 
& 5



3/16/2021

3

5© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 5

BACKGROUND

6© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

WHAT DOES THE MARKET
LOOK LIKE?



3/16/2021

4

7© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

SITUATION ANALYSIS
Michael Matthias (City Manager) and Scott Wilkins (Harbor Master) of Des 
Moines, WA, are working on a marina redevelopment plan. The current marina 
is a 20-acre, 800-slip facility that is equidistant from Tacoma and Seattle. In 
2018 more than 1M visitors, and 440,000 vehicles, entered the marina. Des 
Moines is at the center of the residential population that works in Tacoma and 
Seattle. It is also contiguous to the SeaTac airport, which is about three miles 
from the marina.
The vision is for the city of Des Moines to provide daily commuters a ferry 
service using the marina as a pick-up/drop-off point. It will receive travelers 
from Seattle and Tacoma who are going to the airport, and also support visitors 
from a tourism perspective. 
The ferry service will also be an essential component to regional emergency 
plans and regional resiliency plans as it is the closest harbor to the Kent Valley, 
our center of warehousing and manufacturing. The Kent Valley is vulnerable to 
flooding in an earthquake or dam breach.
We discussed with Michael and Scott the idea for conducting a study which 
projects the viability and demand for a ferry service in an effort to seek 
potential funding and planning partners. 

8© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 8

RESEARCH OBJECTIVES
• Identify reactions to the proposed marina vision and ferry operation with 

key stakeholders (investors, developers, etc.)
• Determine potential passenger demographics (what percent of ridership 

would be tourist) and determine origination points from all viable cities
• Establish price points and intent to purchase 
• Determine the necessity of including Des Moines in any Seattle-to-Tacoma 

ferry route. Validate the viability of airport transport
• Demonstrate how the ferry could provide regional emergency evacuation 

for Kent Valley
• Validate the Marina’s redevelopment vision and ferry offering including the 

ability for the plan to be environmentally sustainable through the potential 
use of a battery-electric, low emission Hydrogen fueled, or hybrid ferrying 
vessel.  

• Determine primary and secondary tourist/resident/b2b transportation trends 
• Identify local attractions 
• Determine area partners including companion mode partners, parking and 

traffic assessments etc.



3/16/2021

5

9© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 9

APPLICATIONS OF STUDY RESULTS
Financial forecasts can be used to facilitate  
funding and validate market potential

Determination of optimal operational 
business concept and ferry offerings

Validation for proposed geographic location 
and ferry service routes and schedules

Segmented targeting and identification of 
companion-mode partners

10© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

GEOGRAPHIC MARKET

Market 
area as 
defined by 
the Phase II 
THG 
feasibility 
study 



3/16/2021

6

11© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

WHAT DOES THE MARKET WANT?

Potential public amenities such as marina steps, rooftop gardens, 
and validation of the Tides and Pier concepts

12© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

THE PROPOSED MARINA



3/16/2021

7

13© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 13

ABOUT DIEDRICH RPM

14© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 14



3/16/2021

8

15© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

16© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 16

https://datastudio.google.com/u/0/reporting/49067b50-1be7-434d-a676-e8c5585b32f6/page/ygbB



3/16/2021

9

17© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 17

NEURAL NETWORK REPORTING

1.

• Predict % of 
Quarterly Churn 

• (Future)

2. 

• Data Points
• Demo, Buying 

Attributes

3.
• Targeting To Prevent 

Defection

1.

• Predict % of Quarterly 
Sales Conversions

• (Future)

2.

• Data Points
• Demo – Buying 

Attributes 

3.

• Future Targeting To 
Enhance 
Conversions

Churn Modeling Sales Modeling

18© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 18

CLIENT EXPERIENCE



3/16/2021

10

19© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 19

CLIENT EXPERIENCE

20© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 20

RESEARCH SERVICES
•  Questionnaire Development
•  Screening Services
• List Management Services
• Discussion Guide 

Development
• Professional Facilitation
• Data Analysis
• Research Reports
• Recommendations
• Focus Groups
• Web Usability
• Metrics for Success

CREATIVE SERVICES
•  Brand/Identity Development
•  Brand Marketing Materials
• Email Campaigns
• Website Development and 

SEO
•  Digital Advertising
• Creative Copywriting
• TV / Radio Concepts
• Direct Mail
• Print Advertising
• Offset, Digital, Variable Data 

Printing

MARKETING SERVICES
•   Marketing/Implementation Plan
•   Integrated Marketing
• Branding
•  Media Planning and Placement
• Media Buying and Tracking
• Public Relations
• Event Planning
• Insights and Analytics
• Social Media Planning and 

Implementation
• Digital Marketing 
• Web Development 



3/16/2021

11

21© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 21

PART 1: MEETING WITH LEADERSHIP 
& PRESENTATION TO COUNCILS 

22© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 22

MEETINGS AND PREPARATION
• Discovery meeting – to discuss perceived challenges and 

opportunities associated with the Ferry concept

• Tour the proposed docking and parking areas for the 
Ferry service

• DRPM to present the part 2 Demand Study Strategy to the 
City of Des Moines senior leadership 

• DRPM to make any necessary modifications to the part 2 
Demand study plan 

• Present the Demand Study Plan to Department of 
Economic Development, Department of Transportation 
and to the City Council 



3/16/2021

12

23© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 23

PART 1 BUDGET
Discovery:
• Review of the historical documents, including the feasibility studies, 

city plan, marina plan, tourism information, SeaTac and meetings 
between DRPM and the city of Des Moines: $1,175

• Creation of the Demand Study Proposal: $1,200
• Presentations of the draft Demand Study Proposal to senior 

leadership. (includes projected editing time): $1400
• Presentations to the Department of Transportation Council, the 

Economic Development Council and city of Des Moines Council: 
$1400 

• Total Part 1 Budget: $5175 (includes travel time, 2.5 days) 
Note: Fees do not include travel and lodging – this will be billed as pass-through costs 

24© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 24

PART 2: 
IN-DEPTH-INTERVIEWS



3/16/2021

13

25© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 25

IN-DEPTH-INTERVIEWS
Conduct IDI’s with key stakeholders (investors, developers, influencers, 
etc.), to assess perceptions of the marina redevelopment and ferry 
concept.  Identify what elements of the plan most resonate with 
participants as well as gather other ideas and feedback. Use the findings 
to refine the Consumer Demand study. This phase can aid the future 
investor network and is designed to be inclusive of thought leadership.
Sample reporting below)

26© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 26

PART 3: DRAFT PROPOSED 
DEMAND STUDY



3/16/2021

14

27© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 27

RESEARCH PROCESS
The goal of the research study is to understand consumer demand, 
functional attribute indicators, market barriers and opportunities, 
demographics, and other areas critical to the proposed marina 
redevelopment and ferry operation’s overall success. The information will 
be used to build a targeted and measurable strategic plan to drive 
strategy and determine future sales for the city of Des Moines future ferry 
operation. 

Phase I

Develop 
Research 
Design

Phase II

Create  
Survey & 
Data 

Collection

Phase III

Analysis 
& 

Reporting

Phase I:  The development of a 
Research Design to include project 
objectives, goals, methodology,  
reporting, and timing 
Phase II:  The development and 
deployment of a survey(s) (based on 
the approved Research Design) using 
DRPM’s proprietary survey platform
Phase III:  A full report detailing the 
findings and recommendations

28© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 28

PHASE 1: RESEARCH DESIGN

The first step of any study is the 
development of a Research 
Design, including a research 
methodology.  
Working collaboratively with the 
city of Des Moines, DRPM will 
develop a plan for the research 
project, which will serve as the 
blueprint for the project 
including the creation of the 
survey.  It will also outline project 
specifics such as methodology 
and reporting/data analysis.



3/16/2021

15

29© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 29

PHASE II: DATA COLLECTION
Using the methodology approved from the Research Design, a plan 
is developed to capture responses and achieve the studies 
goals/quota.  Often this includes a mixed-method approach, 
utilizing online resources as well as DRPM’s in-house call center.  

• A minimum of 30 responses per segment is required for 
statistical testing. 
• Segments may include; consumer importance and 

satisfaction ratings by brand/competitor, geographic 
representation, product type, brand loyalty, and other 
demographic characteristics.

• Images may also be included to illustrate product concept 
(online respondents only).

• DRPM (using a proprietary online survey platform) will host all 
data collected.  The raw data may also be transferred via 
Excel or SPSS format if the client elects.  

30© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 30© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

The project includes the following deliverables:
• Research design (working in collaboration with the City of Des 

Moines) which defines the objectives, methodology, and timing
• Use of DRPM’s secure internal survey platform with capabilities 

to provide real-time email alert triggers, data export in Word, 
PDF, Excel, Power Point, and SPSS formats, embedded data 
unique to individual respondent, and more 

• Data collection (mixed-method approach)
• A complete in-depth final report including; data analysis and 

statistical testing, executive summary, opportunities, and other 
key observations 

• Presentation support also available if elected

DELIVERABLES



3/16/2021

16

31© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 31

SAMPLE REPORTING SLIDES

32© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 32

DRAFT CONCEPT STATEMENT
THE CITY OF DES MOINES OFFERS A NEW 

AFFORDABLE WAY TO TRAVEL
The Des Moines Ferry aims to provide a new, affordable way to travel 
between waterfront communities throughout Des Moines, and Puget 
Sound region.  XX routes span over XX nautical miles of waterways and 
will connect commuters from Des Moines, Seattle and Tacoma and 
visitors to the city’s waterfront communities – including neighborhoods, 
job centers, and parks. The City’s proximity to light rail and fast-growing 
employment base will make this passenger service a great new viable 
mode of transportation for our community.

The Des Moines Ferry will provide:
• Great alternative to stress and expense of solo commuting 
• A safe, reliable, comfortable ride
• Environmentally friendly boats
• State-of-the-art traveler amenities 



3/16/2021

17

33© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 33

CONCEPT PLATFORM EVAL
If a ferry service were to be made available from Des Moines to 

Seattle how likely would you be to use it for your daily commute? 

34© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 34

CONCEPT PLATFORM EVAL
What would you expect a round trip fare to be for a 
commuter ferry running from Des Moines to Seattle? 



3/16/2021

18

35© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 35

PROJECTED DEMAND 

Segment Average annual spend Reason for Purchase

Residents $2M (62%) Commute Time 
Convenience (96%)

Tourists/       
Hotel Guests $1M (61%) Experience (42%)

Tour Operators $500K (48%) Venue/convenience/
reputation (65%)

Airport 
Commuters $500K (48%) Commute Time 

Convenience(65%)

Total $4M

Project an estimated $4M in total revenue based on the following 
demand by market segment

36© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 36

9.0%

15.7%

6.9%

8.1%

6.5%

6.5%

6.9%

4.1%

8.2%

15.7%

2.8%

14.8%

12.8%

7.3%

7.7%

6.5%

7.8%

4.1%

3.3%

6.0%

34.8%

18.6%

37.0%

32.9%

28.0%

23.7%

26.0%

13.9%

37.2%

33.2%

37.2%

46.4%

47.2%

56.1%

58.8%

60.6%

76.2%

45.0%

Price/Cost (3.75)

Food & Beverage Service (3.46)

Wifi Access (4.13)

Amenities (4.07)

Free Parking (4.24)

Seasonal Pass Discount (4.25)

24/7 Schedule (4.31)

Bicycle Storage (4.56)

OVERALL Concept

Not at all ImportantUnimportant Dissatisfied Neutral Somewhat Important Extremely Important

Most areas measured have a top-two box above the 80% threshold
Top 2 Box 

Score 
82%

90%

90%

87%

83%

84%

80%

83%

56%

68%

Q:  Please rate the level of importance for the following attributes when considering a proposed ferry service. 

SERVICE ATTRIBUTE IMPORTANCE



3/16/2021

19

37© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

KEY DRIVERS / BUYING BEHAVIOR

Key Drivers – Price/Cost Savings and Access to Free and 
Convenient Parking have the greatest importance and correlation to     

likelihood to use.

* Expedia Group – 2018 American Trends Report

“Value for my dollar” also ranked #1 nationally when 
vacationers were asked to rate their agreement using similar    

1-5 Likert Scale*

38© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

NUMBER OF WEEKLY TRIPS

Demographic Segment 1 trip 2‐3 trips 4‐5 trips 5+ trips
Avg. Spend 
(Annual)

A
ge

Millennials (n=142) 21.1% 19.3% 45.5% 14.1% $1,500

Gen Xers (n=256) 17.2% 54.3% 18.4% 10.2% $400

Boomers (n=383) 59.6% 30.7% 17.2% 12.5% $150

In
co
m
e

$50,000 or less (n=79) 19.0% 55.7% 17.7% 7.6% $500

$50,001 ‐ $100,000 (n=295) 17.3% 51.2% 17.6% 13.9% $620

More than $100,000 (n=323) 18.6% 52.9% 16.4% 12.1% $630

C
o
m
m
u
te
rs Seattle Commuter (n=219) 11.0% 13.9% 14.6% 60.5% $3,200

Tacoma Commuter (n=381) 8.6% 9.9% 19.4% 62.1% $3,800

Commutes to Des Moines 
(n=25)

15.0% 38.0% 44.0% 8.0% $2,800



3/16/2021

20

39© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

KEY DRIVER BY SEGMENT

Key Drivers segmented by demographic characteristics may vary, 
emphasizing the importance of segmented marketing campaigns.

40© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

MAPPING



3/16/2021

21

41© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 41

SAMPLE WHITE PAPER

42© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 42

SAMPLE WHITEPAPER
The information can be used to educate consumers and stakeholders and can 

be used as a media relations marketing tool, or as a press release to local news.



3/16/2021

22

43© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 43

CONNECTING THE RESEARCH TO 
YOUR MARKETING STRATEGY 

44© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 44

PHASED MARKETING 
Create a phased marketing approach:
Phase I. 
Build the ferry’s brand, create awareness and demand
Phase II. 
Grand opening and launch
Phase III. 
Building and retaining ridership (supported with 
benchmark rider satisfaction reporting)
Phase IV.
Ongoing ridership promotion (and sharing of 
benchmarks)



3/16/2021

23

45© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

TARGET AUDIENCES

Residents/Commuters 

Influencers:
SeaTac/Hotels/CVB Welcome Centers/ Tour Operators

Preliminary Target Markets by Priority: 1. Des Moines 2. Seattle 3. Tacoma 4. 
Feeder communities 5. SE Alaska 6. British Columbia  

Preliminary Primary Target – Residents, SeaTac commuters, visitors and 
families, business travelers, etc. 

Tourists

46© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 46

INTEGRATED MARKETING
Sample: Target Markets based on Research Primary Data  

Empty Nesters
High Income Internet 

Families
Internet Singles & 

Couples
Events/B2C/B2B

Demographics
• Couples over 45 with no 

children present in the 
household

• Incomes from $75K to 
over $100K

Behavior  
• Lower income brackets 

tend to rely on travel 
guides, coupon sites, 
and TripAdvisor.com

• High income brackets 
use Facebook and 
Travelocity.

• All income brackets use 
travel resources.

Demographics
• Couples with children 

present in the household 
with incomes above 
$100K.

Behavior
• High internet users 

including Facebook, 
TripAdvisor.com, and 
online coupon sites.

Demographics
• 21 to 34 year old singles 

and couples who make 
less than $100K per year 
and have never had 
children.  

Behavior
• Use internet resources 

exclusively, including 
Facebook.

• Tour Buses
• Car rentals
• VRBO
• Reward sales events
• History tours
• Multi-generational events



3/16/2021

24

47© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 47

INTEGRATED MARKETING
Build awareness through both brand and promotional advertising tactics.

Traditional Media Online Media Marketing Materials Promotional Tools

• Business Trade Journals
• Tourist and Visitors 

guides
• Targeted Direct Mail 
• TV / Radio
• Banners / Billboards
• Press Releases

• Listings on Travel Sites 
(Trip Advisor, Hot Wire, 
Orbitz, Mag.) & Area 
Tourism Sites

• Social Media Strategy & 
Paid online Advertising

• Social Networking
• Banner display Ads
• Targeted Emails
• YouTube pre-roll videos
• Press Releases
• Re-targeting campaign
• Paid SEM

• Targeted Brochures
• Rack Cards
• Hotel Room Rack Cards
• Invitations to “Join Us”
• Virtual Tours
• Website
• App and game tied to 

app

• Event Packages
• Event Coupons
• Reward program 
• Community Events 
• Charitable Events 

The Integrated Marketing Campaign will target specific commuter and consumer groups including: feeder markets, tourists and 
travelers, corporate decision ‐makers for events, community events, associations, and area resorts

48© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

PILOT MARKETING

Offer & Messaging 1

Tactic: Digital Re‐forwarding 
Email, Banner Ad, Website

Leads Routed Via 800# & 
URLs

Leads routed to CRM Platform, potential 
actions could include: fulfillment brochure, 
offer & implementation of drip campaign

Ferry Operator

ROI Analysis / Leads by 
Tactic

Converted # Passengers

Unconverted Leads

Direct Marketing Fulfillment

Concept BConcept A

Marketing Process & Tracking



3/16/2021

25

49© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 49

QUESTIONS?

50© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 50

NEXT STEPS
• Approve Budgets and Timelines

• Feedback on Research Design

• Other/Questions?



3/16/2021

26

51© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 51

BUDGET, TIMELINES, 
& NEXT STEPS 

52© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 52

Estimated Part II & III Research Budgets
Work Budget Time Frame

Part II. In-Depth-Interviews
Includes 8-10 interviews, development of the questionnaire, along with a full 

report including verbatim responses and executive summary to be compiled 
based on information obtained through the interviews. 

Trends may also be compared to data obtained from primary research study

$3500-
$4000 2-3 weeks

Part III. Quantitative Primary Market Demand Study:  
Creation of the Research Design, survey development, corresponding 

approval, and programming into web-based survey platform.
Survey to be administrated using a mixed method approach utilizing online 

resources and in-house call center.  Primary target audience may include 
Des Moines Residents, Commuters, Visitors/Tourists, Frequent Travelers, etc. 

Estimated aggregate sampling of 266-383 (population TBD) and 
corresponding Margin of Error (MOE) as follows: 

MOE +/- 6 = 266 samples
MOE +/- 5 = 383 samples

Full in-depth report with statistical analysis upon completion.  Minimum 30 
samples per segment required for statistical testing and analysis.

$23,000-
$27,000 6-8 weeks 

In person presentations of the IDI’s and Full Demand Study
Includes two-three full days of travel and meeting times for DRPM’s Director 

of Research, our Data Engineer (to provide detail on stats associated with 
the report) and Liz Diedrich) Travel and lodging expenses will be billed 

separately as a pass-through expense  

$7,175-
$8,500 2-3 full days

TOTAL $33,675-
$39,500 6-9 weeks

Note: Proposed budget does not include participation incentives and other pass through 
costs. The Marketing plan is also not included in the budget and would be provided post the 
research phases of work. 



3/16/2021

27

53© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

EST. TIMELINE –
TYPICAL QUANTITATIVE STUDY

ESTIMATED PROJECT SCHEDULE 
Primary Research 

(6-8 weeks)

Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Weeks 4 Week 5 Week 6

Creation of Research Design X

Develop / Program Survey X

Analyze Telephone / Email Lists X

Upload/Test Survey X

Program / Deploy Online X X X

Conduct Online Survey / Monitor 
Response Rate

X X X

Conduct Telephone Interviews as 
needed

X X X

Collect / Tabulate / Analyze Data X X

Create / Present Report X X

TOTAL
Note:  Timeline estimations of week 2 and beyond begin upon final approval of the survey (typically one 
week).  DRPM will work hard to reduce timing where possible.  Data collection may vary dependent upon 

incentive, email addresses, list accuracy, and other factors which may effect participation rates.

54© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 54

TERMS AND CONDITIONS



3/16/2021

28

55© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

APPROVALS & AUTHORITY
Approval and Authority
Diedrich RPM will submit to you for approval of all timelines and budgets for the work not 
represented within this document including management and outside costs to implement any 
additional tactics that may include, but not limited to: photography, media placement, 
postage and shipping requirements to produce the work for the City of Des Moines. This 
approval process includes also vendor related services outside of the work discussed. The 
agency will require the client’s authorization before ordering production materials, making 
contracts with suppliers and making reservations or contracts for additional services. We will 
need to have a designated representative of the company as the identified person who is 
authorized to sign budgets and is responsible for authorizations and approvals.

Billing Procedures
Billing is itemized in terms of account management and related if accrued outside 
expenses. 1/3 of the projects fees will be due at project’s onset. 

Agency Compensation
This letter of agreement has been based on our meeting in terms of scope of work. Diedrich 
RPM and Omcare agree upon invoicing on the terms of amortized monthly billings as outlined in 
this proposal. Cost-accounting procedures are maintained based on a time-keeping 
system. Monthly billings will be provided as the work progresses, budget reconciliations will be 
presented to these invoices.

56© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

TERMS & CONDITIONS

Digital Advertising
If hired to conduct digital ad campaigns, Diedrich RPM will develop, implement, 
optimize, and manage any and all Pay-Per-Click (PPC) Advertising accounts and 
campaigns, including but not limited to, Facebook, LinkedIn, Bing and Google, on 
behalf of CLIENT within Diedrich RPM's master accounts. Diedrich RPM will have full 
ownership of CLIENTS accounts; campaign structure, optimizations, and overall 
strategy are proprietary; CLIENT can request access, historic data, and/or full 
ownership of Google and Bing accounts, with an additional investment to obtain 
it.

Creative and Copywriting
DRPM includes up to three rounds or revisions in their pricing for creative and 
copywriting services. Additional requests beyond this will be considered out of 
scope work and will be billed at an hourly rate for our creative department.



3/16/2021

29

57© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

TERMS & CONDITIONS
Applicable Law
The laws of the State of Minnesota shall govern the application and interpretation 
of this agreement.

Termination
Agency services for the research functions will be provided on a monthly basis with 
a provision for 30 days notice of termination by either side. All work in progress will 
be paid for immediately in accordance with acceptable practices of the industry.

Arbitration
Any claim or controversy arising under or relating to this agreement shall be settled 
by arbitration in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association 
at a hearing in Dakota County, MN. Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator’s 
award in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

Binding Agreement
This agreement shall be binding on the parties here to and their successors and 
assigns.

58© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 58© 2018 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
DRPM and client agree that they will duly observe all of their obligations under marketing industry 
guidelines and applicable data protection legislation arising out of or in connection with the 
processing of personally identifiable information under this agreement.  

Client Approvals

City of Des Moines Approval 
Signature:

Today’s Date:

DRPM Approval Signature:

Today’s Date:



3/16/2021

30

59© 2019 • Diedrich RPM • All Rights Reserved 59

CONTACTS

DRPM Contacts: 
Director of Research
Kyle@diedrichrpm.com, Phone: 952-314-9952

Statistician and Research Administration
Brandon@diedrichrpm.com, Phone: 952-373-0805

CEO
Liz@Diedrichrpm.com Phone: 612-850-4455

THANK 
YOU

3000 County Road 42, Suite 300   |   Burnsville MN 55337   |   www.diedrichrpm.com   |   t.952.373.0805   |   f.952.892.6310



 

COVER MEMO 

Briefing Date/Time:  February 9, 2026 

Staff Contact/Title: Alex Smith, Executive Director (360) 528-8050, 
alexs@portolympia.com 

Subject:   Delegation of Authority 

Purpose:    ☒  Information Only     ☐   Decision Needed   

 
Type of Agenda Item:  
Commission Discussion 
 
Background:  
Commissioner Vasavada requested an opportunity to discuss the Port’s Delegation of Authority.  
The Delegation of Authority is a document by which the Commission grants specific powers and 
responsibilities to an Executive Director to manage the Port’s operations. 

Current Port of Olympia Delegation of Authority: 

There are five active Resolutions for the current Delegation of Authority to the Executive 
Director. 

• 2021-04 – Executive Policies 
o 41 policies in all 
o See Pages 3-4 of the resolution for a list of affected policies 

• 2019-06 – Contracts and Acquisition Policies 
o Port Policies 1001-1010, except: 

 Port Policy 1003 which is already written for Executive Director 
authority 

• 2019-07 – Real Property Policies 
o Port Policies 1101-1108, except: 

 Port Policy 1106, which is already written for Executive Director 
authority 

• 2015-16 – Financial Policies 
• 2013-17 – Environmental Policies 
 

There was an attempt to consolidate the three 2019 and 2021 resolutions into a single new 
resolution at a February 2024 Commission meeting, but it was ultimately not approved by the 
Commission. 

Two attached documents summarize what the Delegations of Authority mean in terms of the 
decisions and policy approvals the Commission reserved to itself (the “Commission Policies” 
and “Commission Actions” documents).   

  

mailto:alexs@portolympia.com


 

Examples of Other Delegations of Authority: 

Also attached for Commission consideration are the Delegations of Authority used by the Ports of 
Seattle and Tacoma.  I have also included an excerpt from a presentation given at the WPPA’s 2023 
Commissioners Seminar that discusses the respective roles of Commissioners and the Executive 
Director.   

Alignment with Vision 2050: 
Supports the Vision 2050 Goal to improve the Port’s ability to make decisions, resolve issues and 
achieve its objective and mission. 
 
Environmental Considerations and Review:  
N/A 
 
Alternatives Considered:  
N/A 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
N/A 

Documents Attached:  
PowerPoint Presentation 
Resolution 2013-17 
Resolution 2015-16 
Resolution 2019-06 
Resolution 2019-07 
Resolution 2021-04 
Commission Actions  
Commission Policies 
Port of Seattle Delegation of Authority 
Port of Tacoma Delegation of Authority 
Excerpts from Port of Tacoma Commission and Staff Facilitated Discussion February 2, 2023, 
presented at the WPPA 2023 Commissioner Seminar.  
 

https://www.washingtonports.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/CS2023Stayinyourlane.pdf


2/4/2026

1

Delegation of Authority
Alex Smith

Executive Director
February 9, 2026

Background
 A Delegation of Authority is the document by which the Commission grants 

specific powers and responsibilities to an Executive Director to manage the 
Port’s operations.

 Currently, there are five active Resolutions for the Delegation of Authority to the 
Executive Director:

• 2021-04 – Executive Policies
 41 policies in all
 See Pages 3-4 of the resolution for a list of affected policies

• 2019-06 – Contracts and Acquisition Policies
 Port Policies 1001-1010, except:

• Port Policy 1003 which is already written for Executive Director authority
• 2019-07 – Real Property Policies

 Port Policies 1101-1108, except:
• Port Policy 1106, which is already written for Executive Director authority

• 2015-16 – Financial Policies
• 2013-17 – Environmental Policies

2

1

2



2/4/2026

2

Background

3

Background

4

3

4



2/4/2026

3

Background Provided

Delegations of Authority for:
• Port of Olympia
• Port of Seattle
• Port of Tacoma

 Information from a WPPA seminar on roles and 
responsibilities of the Commission and the Executive 
Director

5

5



Items That Require Commission Action 

Type of Action What How Source 
Beginning of the Year 
Housekeeping 

Adopting the Surplus Property Disposal Threshold Resolution  

Changes to Commission Rules Resolution  

Selection of Commission Officers Motion  

Annual Meeting Schedule Motion  

Committee Assignments Motion  

 

End of Year Financials Tax Levy Adoption Resolution RCW 53.35.045 

Annual Budget and Capital Investment Plan Adoption Resolution RCW 53.35.045 

Adjustment to ED Compensation Motion   

 

Monthly Recurring Items Commission Meeting Minutes Motion  

Bills and Vouchers Motion  

 

Contracts and Grants Small Works, Purchased Service and Public Works Contracts 
over $300,000 

Motion Resolution 2019-06; Policies 
1002, 1004, 1005 

Change Orders when new Not-to-Exceed Amount Exceeds 
$300,000 or Exceeds a Commission-Approved Contract by 
More than 10% 

Motion Resolution 2019-06; Policy 
1005 

Operational Personal Service Contracts over $50,000 Motion  Resolution 2019-06; Policy 
1001 

Non-Operational Personal Service Contracts over $25,000 Motion Resolution 2019-06; Policy 
1001 

Acceptance of Grants for Programs not in the Budget or CIP Motion Policy 1008, 1008-A 

Acceptance of Grants that Require a Port Contribution of 
New Funds 

Motion Policy 1008-A 

 

Leases Leases with a Duration of Over One Year Motion Policy 1101 

Flex Spaces Leases with a Duration Over One Year Motion Policy 1101 

Assignment of Long-Term Leases Motion Policy 1101 

Agreements that Impose Financial Obligations for the Port 
on Improvements 

Motion Policy 1101 

 



Items That Require Commission Action 

Real Property Sale of Real Property Motion Policy 1103 

Purchase of Real Property Motion Policy 1102 

 

Legal Approval of Port Legal Counsel Motion Policy 1009 

Settlement Lawsuits for over $100,000 Motion Policy 1009 

Resolution of any Other Claim Exceeding $25,000 Motion Policy 1009 

 

Other Commission Policy Updates  Motion  

Budget and CIP Amendments Motion  

Approval of the Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor 
Improvements or Amendments thereto 

Resolution  

Approval of Intergovernmental Agreements Motion  

Changes to the Port of Olympia Citizens Advisory Committee 
Rules 

Resolution  

Changes to Code of Governance and Conduct Resolution  

Amending the Charter of the Economic Development 
Corporation 

Resolution  

Amendment of Prior Resolutions Resolution  

Changes to Delegation of Authority Resolution  

Port Economic Development Corporation Meetings Resolution  

Changes to Port Development Guidelines Resolution  

Swantown Marina and Airport Rules and Regulations Resolution  

Airport Minimum Standards Resolution  

Final Acceptance of Capital Projects Motion  

 



 

 

Commission Policies 
 

January 2025 

115 – Safety Program 

116 – Ethics and Conflict of Interest 

501 – Memberships 

502 – Community Advertising and Promotion 

601 – Expense Reimbursement for Travel 

602 – Employee Meeting Expense Reimbursement 

603 – Employee Recognition Events 

604 – Promotional Hosting 

801 – Expenditure System of Internal Controls 

903 – Public Records Policy 

1001 – Consultant Services Agreements 

1002 – Small Works Roster 

1004 – Public Works Contracting 

1005 – Purchased Services Agreements 

1006 – Emergency Public Works 

1008 – Grant Application and Acceptance 

1009 – Legal Services and Other Representation 

1010 - DBE Program for FAA Funded Projects 

1011 – Public Works Competitive Bid Exemption 

1101 – Real Property Rentals and Leasing 

1102 – Real Property Acquisitions 

1103 – Disposition of Real Property 

1104 – Real Property Transaction Commissions 

1105 – Real Estate Reinvestment Proceeds 

1107 – Naming Conventions and Protocols 

1108 – Real Estate Investment and Development 

1201 – Taxation 



 

 

Commission Policies 
 

January 2025 

1202 – Financial Measures 

1203 – User Fees and Rates 

1204 – Capital Investment 

1205 – Debt 

1206 – Post-Issuance Compliance for Bonds 

1301 – Environmental Policy 

 

 

 

 

 





















































































































PORT OF OLYIVTPIA COMMISSION

Resolution 2013- 17

A Resolution, of the Port of Olympia Commission, providing the delegation of

authority to the Executive Director or his or her designee for matters related to
Environmental Policies. 

WHEREAS, Section 53. 12. 270 of the Revised Code of Washington provides

authority to the Port Commission for delegation of powers to the Executive Director; and

WHEREAS, the Port Commission has adopted policy directives delegating
administrative authority to the Executive Director and his/ her designees for the purpose
of expeditious administration of the Port; and

WHEREAS, the Port Commission has from time to time found it necessary to
amend and revise such directives due to changes in law and/ or operations of the Port; and

WHEREAS, the Port Commission now wishes to provide a master policy

directive providing for the delegation of authority to the Executive Director or his or her
designee for matters related to Port Environmental Policies, and to repeal any prior

resolutions dealing with the same subject; 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director will keep the Commission apprised of
changes to Port administrative policies. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Port of Olympia Commission adopts

the master policy directive as set forth as Exhibit " A" attached to this Resolution and
incorporated herein by such reference is for the purpose of providing for the delegation of
authority to the Executive Director or his or her designee for matters related to Port
Environmental Policies, and any prior resolutions dealing with the same subject are
repealed. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Port of Olympia Commission delegates

the authority to the Executive Director to create procedures for the policies covered by
this Resolution. In addition, the Port of Olympia Commission delegates the authority to

the Executive Director to create other administrative policies and procedures as deemed

necessary to ensure proper conduct by the Port of Olympia employees. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED to insure uniform application of these policies, 

questions or requests for interpretation shall be directed to the Executive Director. 

ADOPTED BY THE Port of Olympia Commission this 9th day of December, 2013. 

R 1 OF OLYMPIA COMM

Jr., President

till McGregor, V i

r y . 

S

L



PORT OF OLYMPIA COMMISSION

Resolution 2013- 17

Environmental Policy
Exhibit A

A Resolution, of the Port of Olympia Commission, providing the delegation of authority to
the Executive Director or his or her designee for matters related to Environmental Policies. 

l. Environmental Stewardship and Compliance

The Port of Olympia is dedicated to developing and conducting Port business in a responsible
manner that is environmentally, economically, and socially sustainable. The Port recognizes
the value of the natural environment in which it operates, and is committed to fulfilling its
mission of economic development within Thurston County in a manner that promotes long- 
term environmental sustainability in the region. To this end, the Port will pursue: 

1) Compliance with applicable Federal, State, and local environmental statutes, regulations, 

enforceable agreements, and environmental permit requirements for all Port activities; 2) 

Clarity and consistency in the Port' s environmental management efforts; 3) Transferable
institutional knowledge; and 4) Continuous improvement in environmental performance. 

J



R ESO LUTI O N
Port of Tacoma Commission

RESOLUTION 2025-O3.PT
MASTER POLICY DIRECTIVE, SUPERSEDING RESOLUTION 2024.03.PT AND ALL PRIOR

RESOLUTIONS ADOPTING MASTER POLICY DIRECTIVES

A RESOLUTION of the Port of Tacoma Commission regarding superseding Resolution 2O24-03-PT
and all prior resolutions adopting Master Policy Directives;

WHEREAS, pursuant to provisions of RCW 53.12.270, the Port Commission is authorized to delegate to the
managing official of a port district such administrative powers and duties as it may deem proper for the
efficient and proper management of port district operations; and

WHEREAS, the Port Commission delegates authority to the Executive Director via a Master Policy Directive;
and

WHEREAS, the Port Commission adopts this Resolution delegating authority to the Executive Director,
establishing associated guidelines, and repealing all prior resolutions dealing with the same subject matter,
except as specifically provided herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that:

L. The Master Policy Directive attached as Exhibit "N' and by this reference incorporated herein, is
adopted for the purpose of establishing the administrative authority of the Executive Director.

2. lnasmuch as state law requires this authority be renewed or reviewed from time to time, the Port
Commission is authorized to accomplish the same by motion; provided, however, in the event this authority is

amended in any fashion or repealed, such amendment or repeal must be by resolution or motion passed by
the Port Commission.

3. The Executive Director shall bring the Master Policy Directive forward to the Port Commission annually
for the purpose of renewing the delegated authority contained herein, or to allow any Commissioner to then
request that reconsideration of the Master Policy Directive be placed on the agenda of the next regular
meeting.

4. Upon adoption this Resolution supersedes Resolution 2024-O3-PT; provided, however, any actions
approved under Resolution 2024-03-PT or prior Resolutions adopting Master Policy Directives remain in
effect.



Com mission Meeting 03 / t8/ 2025
Resolution Number: 2025-03-PT

Page2 of 2

ADOPTED by a majority of the members of the Port of Tacoma Commission at a regular meeting held on

the 18th day of March 2025, a majority of the members being present and voting on this resolution and

signed by the Commission Officers in authentication of its passage this 18th day of March 2025.

n McCarthy, President
of Tacoma Commission Port of Tacoma Co ission

One Sitcum Plaza, Tacoma, WA 98421 | P.O. Box 1837, Tacoma, WA 98401 | (253) 383-5841 | portoftacoma.com



 
Exhibit A  

 

-i- 

MASTER POLICY DIRECTIVE 
CONTENTS 

CONTENTS............................................................................................................................................1  

I.  OVERVIEW OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR…………………………1  

A. Roles and Responsibilities of the Executive Director.......................................................................1  

B. General Provisions ..........................................................................................................................2  

C. Planning and Budget Implementation ............................................................................................2  

II.   DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................................................3  

A.   Advance Mitigation Site……………………………………………………………………............................................3  

B. Alliance ............................................................................................................................................3 
 

C. Annual Capital Investment Plan ......................................................................................................3  

D. Approval ..........................................................................................................................................3  

E. Authorization ..................................................................................................................................3  

F. Executive Director ...........................................................................................................................3  

G. Claim ...............................................................................................................................................4 

H. Emergency ......................................................................................................................................4  

I. Filed with Commission ....................................................................................................................4  

J. Goods and Services .........................................................................................................................4  

K. Unit Priced Contract ........................................................................................................................4  

L. Interlocal Agreement ......................................................................................................................4  

M. Management Services Agreement ..................................................................................................4  

N. Material Scope Change ...................................................................................................................4  

O. Mitigation Bank…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..4 

P. Mitigation Bank Credit………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..5 

Q. Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC) .............................................................................5 

R. Normal Operating Expense .............................................................................................................5  

S. Normal Port Operations ..................................................................................................................5  

T. Ongoing Environmental Activities……………………………………………………………………………………………….5 

U. Operating Agreements ....................................................................................................................5  

V. Personal Services .............................................................................................................................5  

W. Project .............................................................................................................................................6  

X. Professional Services .......................................................................................................................6  



 
Exhibit A  

 

-ii- 

Y. Public Work ....................................................................................................................................6  

Z. Service Agreements .......................................................................................................................6  

AA. Vessel Service Agreement ..............................................................................................................6  

III.   POLICY GOVERNING PORT REAL PROPERTY .................................................................................6  

A. General Provisions for Port Real Property Agreements .................................................................7  

B. Rental/Leasing Agreements of Port Property (Port as Lessor) ......................................................7 

C. Agreements for the Port Use of Real Property Owned by Others (Port as Lessee) ......................8  

D. Port Grants of Covenants and Easements .....................................................................................8  

E. Easements for the Port Use of the Property of Others .................................................................9  

F. Acquisitions of Real Property ........................................................................................................9  

G. Sale of Real Property .....................................................................................................................9  

H. Payment of Real Estate Commissions ...........................................................................................9  

IV.  POLICIES GOVERNING AUTHORIZATION FOR CONTRACTING, PROJECTS,  
PROCUREMENT & EMERGENCIES................................................................................................10  

A. Interlocal & Non-Binding Agreements ........................................................................................11  

B. Projects .......................................................................................................................................11  

C. Project and Contract Reporting ..................................................................................................12  

D. Professional Services Contracts ..................................................................................................13  

E. Personal Services Contract .........................................................................................................13  

F. Purchased Goods and Services ...................................................................................................15  

G. Declaration of Emergency ...........................................................................................................15  

V.   POLICIES GOVERNING FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES .............................................................................16  

A. Management of Port Funds ........................................................................................................16  

B. Port Expenditures for Travel, Hosting and Memberships ...........................................................16  

C. Managing Uncollectible Accounts ...............................................................................................17  

D. Acceptance of Grant Funding ......................................................................................................17  

E. Insurance Programs ....................................................................................................................18  

F. Surplus or Sale of Personal Property ..........................................................................................18  

G. Annual Budgeting Activities ........................................................................................................18  

H. Payment of Statutory Expenditures ............................................................................................19  

VI.   POLICIES GOVERNING LEGAL ACTIVITIES .....................................................................................19  

A. Retaining Independent Counsel/Experts/Investigators ...............................................................19 



 
 

-iii- 

  

B. Settlement of Claims .....................................................................................................................19  

C. Settlement of Litigation .................................................................................................................20 

D. State and Federal Environmental Remediation Agreements ........................................................20  

E. Policies and Procedures ................................................................................................................ 21  

F. Non-Discrimination and Equal Opportunity ..................................................................................21  

VII.   POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE AND SALE OF MITIGATION CREDITS.……………………………………………21 

A.  Scope………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….21 

B.  Use of Mitigation Credits…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….22 

C.  Sale of Mitigation Bank Credits……………………………………………………………………………………………………22 

D.  Use of Advance Mitigation Site Credits………..……………………………………………………………………………..23 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 1 
     

I.           OVERVIEW OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  

The following policy is adopted by the Commission of the Port of Tacoma for the purpose of establishing 
the administrative authority of the Executive Director, who is responsible for Normal Port Operations, as 
defined herein.  The statutory provision for the delegated authority in this Master Policy Directive is RCW 
53.12.270 and this Master Policy Directive is expressly subject to provisions governing port district 
operations.  The phrase “Normal Port Operations,” as used herein, means the regular day- to-day business 
transactions involving personnel, materials, facilities, real and personal property, money, and other assets. 
Unless specifically noted, delegated authorization amounts are exclusive of applicable local, state, and 
federal taxes.  

A. Roles and Responsibilities of the Executive Director  

(1) The Executive Director derives authority from the Port Commission acting as the governing 
body and is responsible for carrying out Port Commission policies.  The Commission 
delegations to the Executive Director are given with the assurance that authorization of 
expenditures will be managed within the authorized operating budget.  

(2) Serves as the primary spokesperson for management.  

(3) Retains professional staff, and delegates to appropriate staff such administrative authority 
or reporting requirement as is necessary and advisable for the efficient exercise of such 
authority.  

(4) Interacts with and supports the Alliance as necessary to enhance operations for both 
entities.  

(5) The Executive Director will promulgate policies and procedures that create administrative, 
monetary, and contractual delegations and other documents as may be appropriate to 
include Commission Agenda action item Memos identifying financial, economic, and 
environmental impacts.  

(6) Subject to the limitations identified in this Master Policy Directive, the Executive Director 
shall be responsible for:  

(a) Operation, maintenance, administration, and use of the Port’s facilities, and other 
properties not licensed to the Alliance;  

(b) Development of industrial districts;  

(c) Implementation of construction work, alterations and improvements to the Port’s 
terminals, facilities, and other properties not licensed to the Alliance;  

(d) Administration of day-to-day “Normal Port Operations,” which include personnel, 
financial and accounting, legal and all other administrative matters that are 
excluded from the Management Services agreement with the Alliance;  

(e) Execution of contracts and other documents related to Normal Port Operations, not 
licensed to the Alliance, that are related to or pursuant to a project or matter 
approved by the Commission, or otherwise authorized in this Master Policy 
Directive;  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 2 
     

(f) Applications for permits associated with Port facilities or projects not licensed to 
the Alliance;  

(g) Applications for and acceptance of grants or other funds from federal, state, and 
local governments, consistent with actions described in this Master Policy Directive;   

(h) Delivery of services essential to the Port’s mission; financial and accounting related 
matters; legal matters; and all other administrative matters;   

(i) Responsible fiscal management, financial accountability, and budgeting;    

(j) Developing strategies to ensure Port is successful and competitive in meeting 
customer and community expectations; and   

(k) In his/her/their absence, the Executive Director has the authority to assign a 
delegate with his full delegation.   

B.           General Provisions  

(1) Regardless of the provisions and delegations contained in this Master Policy Directive, the 
Executive Director shall bring forward to the Commission for consultation or approval any 
action of a sensitive nature as identified by the Commissioners or the Executive Director.  

(2) The Executive Director shall provide financial, economic, and environmental analysis for real 
estate transactions and planned investments to Port-managed properties.  

(3) This Delegation of Authority Master Policy shall be reviewed annually by the Commission.  

C.           Planning and Budget Implementation  

(1) Long-Range Business Plans - The Commission-approved Strategic Plan shall be the basis for 
the development of all Port programs, Projects, initiatives, the Capital Investment Plan, and 
Annual Operating Budgets, and further is used to prioritize Port spending, and which shall be 
coordinated with the Alliance’s Capital Investment Plans and Strategic Business Plans. The 
Commission shall review the status of implementation of the Strategic Plan not less than 
annually.   
 

(2) Administering Normal Port (Day-to-Day) Operations - In administering day-to-day Port 
operations, the Executive Director may reallocate amounts within and otherwise incur 
variances from the annually approved Operating Budget so long as such reallocations are 
consistent with the Commission’s established policies, financial limits, and delegated 
authorities.  

 

(3) Funding of Projects - When seeking the Commission’s authorization for any Project, the 
Executive Director shall clearly indicate whether such Project was within the Capital 
Investment Plans and/or the Commission’s approved Strategic Plan and, if not, how it is to be 
funded, and why the proposed Project has reached a higher priority over other approved 
Projects.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 3 
     

II.        DEFINITIONS 

      A. Advance Mitigation Site 

 An Advance Mitigation Site is a wetland mitigation site established pursuant to Washington State 
Department of Ecology guidelines prior to a permitted wetland impact occurring, which is designed 
to compensate for future expected impacts.  An Advance Mitigation Site generates value (in the 
form of credits) over time until it reaches its maximum potential.  Credits from advance mitigation 
can only be used by the permittee that developed the advance site unless it is certified as a 
Mitigation Bank.  The Port of Tacoma currently has two (2) advance mitigation sites:  Place of 
Circling Waters and Lower Wapato Creek Habitat Project.  

 B.  Alliance  

Refers to the Port Development Authority (The Northwest Seaport Alliance) created pursuant to 
RCW 53.57 by the Ports of Tacoma and Seattle to manage and operate marine cargo operations 
under Interlocal Agreement dated August 4, 2015, with delegated powers pursuant to the port joint 
powers statute (RCW 53.08.240).   

C.           Annual Capital Investment Plan  

Means the five (5)-year projection of capital and major expense projects and associated 
expenditures which is developed and maintained as a planning tool for Port capital investment, 
which sets the priority for Port funding, and which is reviewed by the Commission annually as part 
of the five (5)-year Plan of Finance and budget review process, or as subsequently amended by the 
Commission during the budget year. Capital project funding should be prioritized to address non-
discretionary projects first. “Non-discretionary” for purposes of this Section incudes but is not 
limited to environment projects carried out pursuant to regulatory or other binding commitment, 
and maintenance projects needed to maintain the operational capacity of the Port and/or which 
are carried out pursuant to lease obligations or other binding commitment. In recommendations to 
the Commission, Staff should identify which proposed capital projects are non-discretionary.  

 D.  Approval  

A recommendation to move work forward for analysis and development of data and documents to 
support potential authorization. Approval does not denote authority to expend funds (see 
“Authorization” below).  

 E.  Authorization  

Authorizes spending, entering agreements, administrative actions, and real estate actions, and 
other items as outlined in this Master Policy Directive. Authorization is given by the Commission to 
the Executive Director pursuant to this Master Policy Directive. Authorization implies an action item 
in public session if the required level is beyond the Executive Director delegation level pursuant to 
this Master Policy Directive.  

 F.  Executive Director  

The person hired by the Port of Tacoma Commission to manage and oversee day-to-day operations 
of the Port of Tacoma not licensed to the Alliance.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 4 
     

 G.  Claim  

“Claim” means the assertion of any position, right or responsibility by or against the Port, excluding 
“uncollectible accounts” and any claims asserted by or against the Port that have or may reasonably 
become the subject of litigation.   

 H.  Emergency  

Unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the Port that either present a real, immediate 
threat to the proper performance of essential functions; or may result in a material loss or damage 
to property, bodily injury, or loss of life if immediate action is not taken. (See RCWs 39.04.020, 
39.04.280 and 53.19.010(-4). Emergencies allow for the waiver of state procurement requirements.  

 I.  Filed with Commission  

A document required to be Filed with Commission is considered filed upon delivery to the Executive 
Assistant to the Commission for distribution to each Commissioner.  

J. Goods and Services  

Means natural resources, equipment, materials, supplies (or other finished goods or products), 
utilities and utilities-related services (including services provided by public agencies), maintenance, 
security, and other miscellaneous services.  

 K.  Unit Priced Contract  

A competitively bid contract in which public works are anticipated on a recurring basis to meet the 
business or operational needs of a port district, under which the contractor agrees to a fixed period 
indefinite quantity delivery of work, at a defined unit price, for each category of work.   

 L.  Interlocal Agreement  

A binding agreement between the Port and other local governmental agencies pursuant to RCW 
39.34 that allows for the provision of services or facilities between those agencies.   

 M.  Management Services Agreement  

An Interlocal Agreement between the Port of Tacoma and the Alliance for the Alliance to provide 
leadership personnel that will directly manage day-to-day work of Port of Tacoma staff who provide 
support to the Alliance.  

 N.  Material Scope Change  

Work that was not previously included in the project authorization and substantially changes the 
intent of the project.  

 O. Mitigation Bank 

A Mitigation Bank can be a “wetland mitigation bank” and/or a “conservation mitigation bank”. A 
“wetland mitigation bank” is a site established pursuant to Washington State Department of 
Ecology guidelines where wetlands are restored, created, enhanced, or preserved for the express 
purpose of providing compensatory mitigation in advance of unavoidable impacts to wetlands or 
other aquatic resources. A “conservation mitigation bank” is a site established pursuant to federal 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 5 
     

agency guidelines that permanently protects lands that contain natural resource values for species 
that are endangered, threatened, candidates for listing as endangered or threatened, or are 
otherwise species-at-risk under the federal Endangered Species Act.  The Port currently has one (1) 
Mitigation Bank, the Upper Clear Creek Mitigation Bank, which is certified as both a wetland 
mitigation bank and a fish conservation mitigation bank. 

  P. Mitigation Bank Credit 

A unit of mitigation credit within a Mitigation Bank which is purchased or used to offset the 
unavoidable impacts of a development project.  A mitigation credit is considered intangible 
personal property for legal and accounting purposes. 

 Q.  Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC)  

The Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC) is a nonprofit organization that serves all cities 
and towns in Washington, all counties, and hundreds of special purpose districts, state agencies, 
and other government partners. MRSC has operated as a private nonprofit since 1969 under the 
auspices of RCW 43.110.030.  Firms can register their businesses by following the instructions at 
https://mrscrosters.org/businesses/registrationinstructions.  

 R.  Normal Operating Expense  

Means the Port budgeted operations and non-operating revenues and expenses reviewed, 
approved, and authorized by the Commission as part of the budget process, or as subsequently 
amended by the Commission during the budget year.   

 S.  Normal Port Operations  

Administration of day-to-day Port operations and the regular day-to-day business transactions 
involving personnel, materials, facilities, real and personal property, money, and other assets.    

T.  Ongoing Environmental Activities 

Means groundwater monitoring; supplemental compliance or repair; cleanup action plan (CAP) 
inspections; habitat and vegetation monitoring and replacement; trash and invasive species 
removal; site inspections and report writing required by post construction permit conditions, 
agreed orders, consent decrees, the Municipal Stormwater Permit (MS4), or similar permits and/or 
regulatory requirements. 

 U.  Operating Agreements  

An agreement between the Port and a third party to provide operating services as part of a Port 
business activity.  

 V.  Personal Services  

Personal services are generally professional or technical expertise that are necessary to accomplish 
a specific study, project, task, or other work statement, which may not reasonably be required in 
connection with a public works project meeting the definition of RCW 39.04.010(4). Personal 
services do not include purchased services as defined in RCW 53.19.010(8) or professional services 
procured using the competitive selection requirements in Chapter 39.80 RCW (A&E).  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 6 
     

 W.  Project  

For the purposes of this Master Policy, a “Project” creates or modifies a capital asset or creates a 
cost outside of Normal Port Operating Expenses. A Project may be classified as a capital or expense.  

(1) Public Works Projects – As defined in RCW 39.04.010, public work projects include 
construction, alteration, repair, or improvement other than ordinary maintenance 
executed at the cost of the Port. Work associated with public work projects includes 
planning, scoping, engineering, design, permitting, environmental assessment, 
construction and contract solicitation and administration.  

(2) Non-Public Works Projects – Generally includes defined work that the ED has determined 
will be managed as a Project. Projects do not, however, include regular, recurring, or 
routine work associated with normal Port operations. This category also includes projects 
by the Information Technology department that may require a major upgrade or 
replacement of an information or communication hardware or software system.  

(3) Environmental Projects – Include pollution investigations, cleanups, and habitat 
restoration. Environmental projects may also involve regulatory direction, oversight,  
and agreements, extended periods of investigation and study prior to construction, and 
continuing monitoring and maintenance after clean-up and construction.  

 X.  Professional Services  

Those services within scope of RCW 39.80.020(5) or professional or technical expertise provided by 
a consultant to accomplish a specific study, project, task, or other work statement which is 
reasonably required in connection with public work projects.  

 Y.  Public Work  

Construction, alteration, repair, and improvement other than ordinary maintenance meeting the 
definition of RCW 39.04.010.  

 Z. Service Agreements  

An agreement, such as an Interlocal Agreement between the Port and the Alliance, which allows 
for the provision of services related to normal Port or Alliance operations or projects.  

 AA. Vessel Service Agreement  

An agreement between the Port and vessel steamship lines or their subsidiaries.  

III.  POLICY GOVERNING PORT REAL PROPERTY  

The Executive Director is authorized to take all necessary actions in connection with agreements or 
transactions for real property owned, used, and not licensed to the Alliance by the Port as designated 
herein.  The Commission’s delegation of authority to the Executive Director will extend to all types of 
transactions and agreements including acquisitions, divestitures, rental agreements, leases, operating 
agreements, easements, franchises, permits, rights of entry and other user agreements as provided herein. 
Except where otherwise provided in this Master Policy Directive, all real property transactions will be 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 7 
     

subject to an appropriate written agreement executed by the Executive Director and authorized by the Port 
Commission.  

A.  General Provisions for Port Real Property Agreements  

(1) The final terms of the agreement will conform to the Port’s Real Estate policies and 
procedures and be approved as to form by Port General Counsel.  

(2) The Executive Director is authorized to accept a bond, secure CD, or other rental security 
for real property agreements in compliance with RCW 53.08.085 and Port policy. Other 
rental security may be cash or cash equivalent such as Letter of Credit, Lease Bond, or other 
prior approved rental security instruments, in a form approved by Port General Counsel 
together with necessary certificates of insurance; provided, however, no security is 
required for real property agreements entered into with certain governmental entities as 
provided in RCW 53.08.140.  

(3) The Executive Director is authorized to take all necessary actions on behalf of the Port 
Commission and its officers in connection with lease surety bonds, lease surety, rental 
insurance, or other insurance coverage required pursuant to any leases of the Port.  

B. Rental/Leasing Agreements of Port Property (Port as Lessor)  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into month-to-month real property 
rental/lease agreements when the associated expenditures of the Port do not exceed 
$350,000. These agreements shall require a minimum-security deposit equal to three (3) 
months’ rental (plus leasehold tax amounts) to be posted in advance of the occupancy, and 
to be held by the Port as a rental security for the full duration of a month-to-month 
occupancy and to ensure compliance with the terms of the lease agreement. Adjustments 
or modifications which decrease the minimum required security rental deposit will require 
Commission authorization; provided, however that adjustments to the security deposit 
which result from periodic automatic adjustments/escalators to the Base Rent equating to 
less than $200 shall be deferred until the security deposit adjustment equals or exceeds 
$200.    

(2) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into real property rental/leasing agreements 
with a term not to exceed one (1) year when the associated expenditures of the Port do not 
exceed $350,000. Commission authorization is required for real property rental/leasing 
agreements with a term greater than one (1) year. The intended use of leased real property 
must be expressly stated in writing.  All leases requiring Commission authorization, except 
Fabulich Building office leases, shall be subject to a first and second reading prior to final 
authorization.  The Commission reserves the right to waive first reading and proceed to 
adoption by a vote in public session.   

(3) Rental/lease rates shall be based upon market rates established for the specific use under 
consideration and the condition of such facility.  

(4) A briefing on available properties will be provided to the Commission at a public meeting 
at least once per year including a summary of new leases, properties available, how 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 8 
     

available properties are being marketed and those properties that have an expression of 
interest.  A written report summarizing the same information will be provided to the 
Commission at least twice per year and made available to the public via posting on the 
Port’s website. 

(5) All real property rental/leasing agreements one (1) year or greater shall require a minimum-
security deposit equal to twelve months rent (plus leasehold tax amounts) to be posted in 
advance of occupancy and held by the Port as security for the full duration of the occupancy 
and to ensure compliance with all terms and conditions of the lease agreement and in 
accordance with RCW 53.08.085.  Adjustments or modifications which decrease the 
minimum required security deposit will require Commission authorization; provided, 
however, that adjustments to the security deposit which result from periodic automatic 
adjustments/escalators to the Base Rent equating to less than $200 shall be deferred until 
the security deposit adjustment equals or exceeds $200.     

(6) Where the Commissioners have approved a real property rental/leasing agreement, which 
contains one (1) or more extension period(s) to extend the lease term, the Executive 
Director is authorized to exercise that option when the associated expenditure of the Port 
does not exceed $350,000 cumulatively. 

(7) The Executive Director is authorized to approve assignment of Port leases originally subject 
to Commission approval under this Master Policy Directive where the requested 
assignment is (1) due to a change in form of the tenant entity, (2) occurring by operation 
of law, (3) to a related or subsidiary entity of the tenant without change in underlying entity 
ownership.  Port Legal Counsel shall review and approve the form of such assignments prior 
to execution. 
 

(8) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into access agreements with the Alliance for 
Port Property provided that the access agreement is for one year or less; the associated 
expenditures of the Port do not exceed $350,000 annually; the access agreement may be 
terminated by either party on thirty (30) days notice, and the Commission is provided 
notice of the terms of any such access agreement prior to the agreement’s effective date.  
Any subsequent agreement for Alliance use of Port Property beyond one year shall be 
brought to the Commission for approval. 

C. Agreements for the Port Use of Real Property Owned by Others (Port as Lessee)  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into agreements for the use of real property 
owned by others if the term of the use is one (1) year or less and the charge to the Port does 
not exceed $350,000.  

D. Port Grants of Covenants and Easements  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into agreements for easements, licenses, 
access permits, and other rights of entry up to two (2) years in duration where the 
impairment does not substantially interfere with the Port’s intended use or reasonable 
future intended use. “Substantially interfere” shall mean when Fair Market value is not 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 9 
     

reduced more than an estimated $350,000 in any one (1) year.  The form of any easement, 
license, access permit, or other right of entry shall be approved by the Port General Legal 
Counsel.  

(2) Easements, licenses, access permits, other rights of entry and covenant agreements beyond 
two (2) years shall require Commission authorization. Utility easements required for utility 
service, access, and/or maintenance on Port property shall not require Commission 
authorization and may be approved by the Executive Director.  

E.  Easements for the Port Use of the Property of Others  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into easements for the Port use of the real 
property owned by others for agreements up to one (1) year provided that the cost to the 
Port does not exceed $350,000 annually.  

(2) Real property easements, excluding utility easements, for Port use that are greater than 
one (1) year require the authorization of the Commission.  

F.  Acquisitions of Real Property  

(1) Prior to the Port Commission authorizing the acquisition of real property, the Executive 
Director will take all necessary steps, including when appropriate and necessary to establish 
a fair property valuation, the securing of appraisals, and the securing of fee title and such 
interest in the property as required for the benefit of the Port.  

(a) Port staff shall be required to document and present all known and suspected 
environmental liabilities associated with the property in question to the Commission as 
part of the acquisition authorization.  

(2) Acquisition price of real properties shall in no case exceed the appraised value by ten 
percent (10%), nor shall the total price paid exceed the estimates provided to the Port 
Commission in securing its authorization without further specific Commission 
authorization.  

G.  Sale of Real Property  

(1) Any sale of real property which is part of the Port’s Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor 
Improvements (CSHI) requires a public hearing and authorization by the Commission to first 
amend the Port’s CSHI and to declare the property to be surplus.  The Port’s Comprehensive 
Scheme of Harbor Improvements shall be modified only after public notice and hearing 
pursuant to RCW 53.20.010 and RCW 53.08.090.  

(a) Any sale of real property that includes continued Port environmental 
liabilities/expenditures shall be documented and presented to the Commission as 
part of the authorization to surplus.  

(b) Per RCW 53.25.140 for any property located within the boundaries of an Industrial 
Development District (IDD) the sale price must not be less than fair market value of 
the property which shall be determined by an average of at least two (2) 
independent appraisals performed by licensed real estate brokers or professionally 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 10 
     

designated real estate appraiser as defined in RCW 74.46.020. The Port shall comply 
with all other applicable requirements of Chapter 53.25 RCW for the sale of 
properties located within the boundaries of a Port IDD.  

H.  Payment of Real Estate Commissions  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to retain licensed real estate brokers for the purpose 
of marketing for sale and/or lease Port properties.  

(2) Commissions may be paid to licensed real estate brokers that actually initiate bona fide 
transactions for the Port upon satisfactory proof being submitted to the Port Real Estate 
department that the broker actually initiated and completed the transaction for which they 
claim commission.  In addition, thereto, the broker shall file with the Port Real Estate 
department within ten (10) days from broker’s appointment as their client’s agent for the 
purpose of aiding in the leasing of the Port property a statement under oath that the broker 
actually initiated the bona fide transaction together with the name of the broker’s client 
and the date of their first contact with said client. Unless this provision is strictly complied 
with, the Port will not pay a claimed commission.  

(3) For properties the Port “exclusively lists” with brokers to sell, a maximum commission of 
five percent (5%) of the total sale price may be paid. Commissions on sales will be paid via 
a one (1)-time payment. 

(4) For properties the Port “exclusively lists” with brokers to lease, a maximum commission of 
five percent (5%) of the Net Rent to the Port for up to five (5) years shall be paid, except 
that for month-to-month leases, a maximum commission of two (2) months of Net Rent to 
the Port shall be paid.  For approved leases for properties not listed with a broker, which 
are initiated and completed by licensed brokers a maximum commission equal to three 
percent (3%) of Net Rent shall be paid.  “Net Rent” shall mean rent net to the Port with 
Lessee paying taxes, utilities, maintenance, and insurance. Costs for Port paid tenant 
improvements, utilities, and other services specific to the lease will be subtracted from the 
Net Rent amount for calculations of commissions paid.  The Executive Director shall 
disclose, as part of the Commission approval of the underlying lease, the amount of the 
commission should that be projected to be paid. 

(5) A summary of all Real Estate commissions will be reported semi-annually.  

(6) Commissions shall not be paid on leases involving existing tenants for new leases, 
expansions, new space rentals, renewals or options exercised or repayment to the Port for 
tenant improvements made by the Port on behalf of the Tenant, payments made to the 
Port from security deposits, or any escalation of the Net Rent.  

(7) Commissions shall be paid as the net rents are collected by the Port.   

IV.  POLICIES GOVERNING AUTHORIZATION FOR CONTRACTING, PROJECTS, PROCUREMENT & EMERGENCIES    

The Executive Director is authorized to control and direct all necessary activities that require contracting 
and procurement of goods and services associated with carrying out Normal Operations of the Port not 
licensed to the NWSA. Contracting and Procurement activities for the Port will be in compliance with 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 11 
     

applicable laws and regulations and the policies and delegation of authority set forth in this Master Policy 
Directive.  The Port shall endeavor to use a variety of firms (including small business firms) based on the 
nature of the work and the expertise of the firms.  

A. Interlocal & Non-Binding Agreements  

(1) Commission authorization is required to approve Interlocal Agreements with other public 
agencies, including Service Agreements between the Port and the Alliance.  Interlocal 
Agreements shall comply with the requirements of RCW 39.34.  

(2) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into agreements with other governmental 
agencies and non-governmental entities in situations where the agreement does not create 
a financial obligation or impair any Port owned assets and have been reviewed and 
approved in writing by Port legal counsel.  

B.  Projects  

(1) The Executive Director may authorize Projects where the estimated Project cost, inclusive 
of all costs related to the work, does not exceed $350,000.  

(2) Commission authorization shall be required for Projects where the total estimated Project 
costs will exceed $350,000 or when actual costs of a previously approved Project exceed 
$350,000, including Projects previously authorized by the Executive Director.  

(a) The Executive Director may authorize spending up to $350,000 for Project work 
where the total estimated Project costs may exceed $350,000. 

(b) Port presentations which request Commission authorization will disclose Project 
spending previously authorized by the Executive Director and spending previously 
authorized by the Commission, if any. Depending on the overall estimated costs and 
complexity of the Project, the Executive Director may request Commission 
authorization at key stages of the project (i.e., design, execution of work, 
remediation).  

(c) Projects shall not be broken into units or accomplished in phases to avoid Port 
Commission authorization.  

(d) Where personal, professional, or purchased goods and services are part of a Project, 
authorization of expenditures will be managed as part of the project authorization.  

(e) Public work contracts not part of a Project and not part of Normal Operating 
Expense follow the same authorization process as Projects.  

(f) For Small Public Works projects up to $350,000 in value, the Port may use the 
Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC) Contractor Roster as authorized 
by RCW 39.04.155.  

(3) Projects with an estimated cost that exceeds $350,000 and have a change in the scope, 
schedule or budget require the following actions:  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 12 
     

(a) Commission authorization will be required if a Material Scope Change occurs in the 
Project.  

(b) The Commission will be notified if a Project schedule delay has an anticipated 
financial impact on a customer or other affected stakeholders.  

(c) Commission notification and follow-up Commission authorization is required as soon 
as it is determined that the Project cannot be completed for the previously 
authorized amount and Project costs incurred will be limited to the minimum amount 
necessary to allow the Project to proceed until Commission approval is obtained for 
the additional amounts.  

(i)  In situations where the public works component of a remediation Project 
determines that additional contamination or an unforeseen condition is 
found which impacts the budget of a Project beyond the Project 
authorization, staff shall notify the Commission and continue with the 
required work.  

(4) Authorization for Alternative Public Works Contracting Procedures. Commission 
authorization is required to perform public work under procedures alternative to design-
bid-build, as defined in RCW 39.10, for design-build and general contractor/construction 
manager. For such contracts, staff will propose for Commission’s approval a sequence of 
authorization steps.  

(5) Unit priced contracts for Public Works and job order contracts (authorized in RCW 39.10) 
may be approved by the Executive Director and all work falling under the unit priced 
contract or job order contract is to be authorized pursuant to this Master Policy Directive 
as a Project.  

(6) The Executive Director may resolve all claims through the mediation phase of a dispute 
resolution arising from public works contracts up to an advance of $350,000.  Commission 
will be notified of potential settlements which may exceed the previously authorized 
Project amount and additional authorization will be requested in accordance with the 
requirements for Project changes contained herein. Port operations, maintenance, 
monitoring, and stewardship activities, where the costs of normal operating expenses, 
require only outside services to be authorized.  

(7) Ongoing Environmental Activities shall be authorized annually through the budget approval 
process.  

C.  Project and Contract Reporting   

(1) The Executive Director shall report semi-annually to the Commissioners all Projects 
authorized by the Commissioners. The report shall include project schedule, current 
estimate, authorized amount, cost to date, summary of any changes to scope, and any other 
significant developments with respect to the Project. Selected environmental Projects that 
have moved into long-term (5 years plus) monitoring (or maintenance) programs shall be 
exempt from Project reporting.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 13 
     

(2) The Executive Director shall report quarterly to the Commissioners all Project and contract 
authorizations equal to or greater than $150,000 authorized through the delegated 
authority contained in this Master Policy Directive. The report shall include the type of 
authorization, a brief description of the authorization, and the amount of the authorization.  
All new Professional and Personal Services Contracts as well as settlement of Claims, 
including litigation, regardless of the amount, will be reported quarterly.  

(3) At the Commissioners’ direction, the Executive Director shall report on any Project of a 
sensitive or critical nature.  

D.  Professional Services Contracts  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to approve Professional Services Contracts associated 
with Normal Port Operations with a cost for each contract not exceeding $350,000, 
cumulative with amendments.  

(2) On-call contracts for professional services may be approved by the Executive Director and 
all work falling under the on-call contract is to be authorized pursuant to the applicable 
Master Policy Directive as a Project or contract subject to the limits set forth herein.  

(3) For Professional Services contracts up to $200,000 in value, the Port may use the MRSC 
Consultant Roster as authorized by RCW 39.80.  

E.  Personal Services Contracts  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to approve personal services contracts in the conduct 
of normal Port operations not licensed to the Alliance when the following conditions exist:  

(a) The cost of the proposed personal service contract shall not exceed the amount of 
$350,000, cumulative with amendments.  

(b) The specific contract or class of contract has been formally waived by resolution of 
the Commission from competitive solicitation process; or is exempt by RCW 
53.19.020 or unrestricted by RCW 53.19.070.  

(2) On-call contracts for personal services may be approved by the Executive Director and all 
work falling under the on-call contract is to be authorized pursuant to the applicable Master 
Policy Directive as a Project or contract subject to the limits set forth herein.  

(3) When an amendment to a contract, individually or cumulatively, which was approved by 
the Executive Director pursuant to Section IV.E.(1) hereinabove will exceed 50% of the 
original contract amount for the agreement and that amended cumulative amount remains 
less than $350,000.00, the amendment must be filed with the Commission and made 
available for public inspection on the Port’s website seven (7) days prior to the proposed 
starting date of services under the amendments.   Substantial changes in contract scope or 
substantial additions to the scope specified in the formal solicitation documents shall be 
authorized by the Commission unless authorization has been provided for otherwise 
pursuant to this Master Policy Directive.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 14 
     

(4) Any amendment to a Personal Services Contract must be approved by the Commission by 
a vote in public session and be made available for public inspection on the Port’s website 
seven (7) days prior to the proposed starting date of services under the amendment if the 
Personal Services Contract:  

(a) was approved by the Executive Director pursuant to Section IV.E.(1) hereinabove, 
and the amendment(s) individually or cumulatively will exceed 50% of the contract 
amount and that amended cumulative amount exceeds $350,000, or   

(b) was previously approved by the Commission because the contract’s initial amount 
exceeded $350,000.   

(5) All Personal Services Contracts will be entered into pursuant to competitive solicitation as 
required by law, except for the following; provided, however, this procurement 
modification does not change the requirements for any applicable Commission or ED 
approvals based on costs amounts as provided herein:  

(a) Emergency contracts in compliance with Section IV.G.(1) below.  

(b) Sole source contracts; provided, however, that sole source service contracts, 
regardless of the amount, shall be filed with the Commission for three (3) days and 
made available to the public prior to starting the work pursuant to RCW 53.19.040.  

(c) Any other specific contract or classes as exempted by RCW 53.19.070 as it now 
exists or may be in the future amended, and which currently exempts the following:  

(i) Contracts specifying a fee of less than fifty thousand dollars;  

(ii) Contracts awarded to companies that furnish a service where the tariff is 
established by the utilities and transportation commission or other public 
entity;  

(iii) Intergovernmental agreements awarded to any governmental entity, 
whether federal, state, or local and any department, division, or subdivision 
thereof;  

(iv) Contracts awarded for services to be performed for a standard fee, when 
the standard fee is established by the contracting agency or any other 
governmental entity and a like contract is available to all qualified 
applicants;  

(v) Contracts for services that are necessary to the conduct of collaborative 
research if prior approval is granted by the funding source;  

(vi) Contracts for professional services which are entered into under Chapter 
39.80 RCW;  

(vii) Contracts for the employment of expert witnesses for the purposes of 
litigation or legal services to supplement the expertise of port staff;   



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 15 
     

(viii) Other specific contracts or classes or groups of contracts exempted from 
the competitive solicitation process by the Commission when the 
Commission has determined that a competitive solicitation process is not 
appropriate or cost effective pursuant to RCW 53.19.020;  

(ix) The Executive Director is authorized to approve competition waivers 
consistent with applicable federal and state laws and internal Port policies 
in accordance with RCW 39.04.280; and   

(x) Notification of all such waivers shall be provided to the Commission prior to 
the proposed starting date of the contract or purchase and will include a 
written justification of the reason for the waiver.  

 F.  Purchased Goods and Services  

(1) The Executive Director has the responsibility for compliance with statutory procedures, 
where applicable, in connection with all contracts for the acquisition of utilities, materials, 
equipment and services. Following competitive bidding, if required, the Executive Director 
may authorize purchased goods and services where the following condition has been met:  

(a) The total contract or purchase order price does not exceed $350,000 cumulatively.  

(2) Contracting Authority for Entering Agreements with Utilities and Annual Software Fees and 
Licenses:  

(a) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into contracts with utility providers in 
order to establish connections, conduct repair or maintenance and to purchase 
utility services as needed that are part of Normal Operating Expenses; and  

(b) The Executive Director is authorized to enter into contracts with providers for 
annual software fees and licenses that are part of Normal Operating Expenses.  

 G.  Declaration of Emergency  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to make a finding of the existence of an emergency, to 
authorize spending of Port resources and funds, to waive competitive bidding requirements 
and to execute any contracts necessary to respond to the emergency in accordance with 
RCWs 39.04.020, 39.04.280, 53.19.010 and 53.19.030, and subject to the following:   
 

(a) The Commission shall be notified within 24 hours of the declaration of the 
emergency.  

(b) If a public works or purchased goods or services contract is awarded without 
competitive bidding due to an emergency, a written finding of the existence of an 
emergency shall be filed with the Commission and made public on the Port’s 
website no later than two (2) weeks following the award of the contract.  

(c) If a personal services contract is awarded without competitive bidding due to an 
emergency, a written finding of the existence of an emergency shall be filed with 
the Commission and made public on the Port’s website within seven (7) working 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 16 
     

days following the commencement of work or execution of the contract, whichever 
occurs first. Documented justification for emergency contracts shall be provided to 
the Commission when the contract is filed.  

V.  POLICIES GOVERNING FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES  

The Executive Director is authorized to oversee the financial matters for the Port of Tacoma in accordance 
with applicable laws and subject to the Commission delegations in this Section.  

A. Management of Port Funds  

(1) The Port Treasurer, who must be appointed by the Commission pursuant to RCW 53.36.010, 
may designate one (1) or more Deputy Treasurer(s) without Commission action.  The 
Treasurer is accountable for all financial transactions executed by Deputy Treasurer(s).  

(2) The Port Treasurer and Deputy Treasurer(s) are authorized to oversee the investment of 
Port funds in accordance with applicable law relating to the type of investments authorized 
pursuant to RCW 39.59, RCW 43.84.080, and referenced RCWs within, including sale of such 
investments and necessary inter-fund transfers.  

(3) The Port Treasurer is authorized to oversee the management of the Port’s cash reserves. 
Minimum cash reserve has been established as six (6) months’ direct operating expenses 
and any reserves required by agreements or associated with maintaining bond covenants.  

 B.  Port Expenditures for Travel, Hosting and Memberships  

(1) Travel Expenditures for Employees and Other Authorized Representatives of the Port.  

(a) Pursuant to RCW 53.08.176, the Executive Director is authorized to establish Port 
policies and procedures to regulate and audit travel expenses and reimbursement.  

(b) The Executive Director is authorized to approve travel and other reimbursable 
expenses, excluding Commissioners, incurred on behalf of the Port.  

(c) Commissioner international travel requires prior authorization by the full 
Commission.  

(d) The Port’s Auditor will be responsible for ensuring the full compliance with 
applicable statutes, regulations and Port policies and procedures governing expense 
reimbursement by employees, Port Commissioners, and representatives of the Port.  

(2) Expenditures for Trade Promotion and Promotional Hosting.  

(a)   The Executive Director will report proposed expenditures covering industrial 
development, trade promotion, and promotional hosting as provided in RCW 
53.36.120 to Commission as part of the annual budget adoption. Expenditures 
proposed for promotional hosting shall be limited as provided in RCW 53.36.130.  

(b) Port staff and representatives responsible for industrial development, promotional 
hosting, and trade promotion, and authorized to host under the Master Policy 
Directive, are authorized to make expenditures for promotional hosting of all 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 17 
     

appropriate Port activities subject to all of the provisions of the promotional hosting 
policy.  

(c) Commission hosting requires prior authorization by the full Commission.  

(3) The Executive Director is authorized to approve membership in port authority, economic 
development, regional trade, tourism, industrial associations, facility, trade promotion 
organizations, and professional organizations up to $10,000 pursuant to organization or 
individual membership. Memberships greater than $10,000 shall be approved by the 
Commission as a Normal Operating Expense through the annual budget process. A list of all 
memberships of the Port will be reported semi-annually to the Commission.  

 C.  Managing Uncollectible Accounts  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to establish policies and procedures to write off any 
uncollectible accounts. The Port’s aging account report and/or list of delinquent and 
uncollectable accounts shall be provided to the Commission quarterly.  

(2) Prior to writing off any accounts receivable, the Executive Director shall be satisfied that 
every reasonable effort has been made by the Port to accomplish the collection of the 
account.  

(3) If appropriate, the Executive Director shall authorize the Port’s General Counsel to bring 
action in courts of law or, if more appropriate in the case of small amounts, to assign the 
same to collection agencies for the purpose of attempting to finally collect such accounts.  

(4) If after attempting all normal account collection procedures the account is still uncollectible 
after 180 days or more, the Executive Director is delegated the authority to provide for the 
writing off of such account; provided, however, Commission approval is required if the 
amount of any one (1) account to be written off exceeds $50,000.00.  

(5) Any account in excess of $50,000 which is deemed to be uncollectible shall be reported to 
the Port Commission.  

 D.  Acceptance of Grant Funding  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to apply for grant funds for the Port.  

(2) The Executive Director will provide notification to the Commission prior to submitting an 
application for any grants that may obligate the Port to a cash match greater than $350,000 
or if expected associated expenses exceed $350,000.  

(3) The Executive Director is authorized to accept grants where the grant award obligates the 
Port to provide a cash match of no more than $350,000.  

(4) In cases where the grant award obligates or has the potential to obligate the Port to provide 
a cash match greater than $350,000, Commission authorization is required prior to grant 
acceptance, unless as noted in V.D.(5) below.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 18 
     

(5) The Executive Director is authorized to accept and manage any grant funding that is secured 
for Projects that have previously been authorized by the Commission. In this case, if a grant 
is received, the Executive Director shall notify the Commission. 

 E.  Insurance Programs  

(1) The Executive Director shall be authorized to work with the Port’s designated insurance 
broker(s) to negotiate and obtain appropriate policies of insurance to manage the Port’s 
property and casualty risks, provide employee benefits, and other coverage appropriately 
included within a comprehensive insurance program. The Executive Director is further 
authorized to execute all contracts necessary to implement the Port’s comprehensive 
insurance program, the costs of which shall be approved by the Commission as a Normal 
Operating Expense through the annual budget process.   .   

 F.  Surplus or Sale of Personal Property  

(1) With the exception of Mitigation Bank Credits, the Executive Director is authorized, 
pursuant to RCW 53.08.090, to sell and convey surplus personal property of the Port subject 
to the following conditions:  
 

(a) When the net book value of such personal property does not exceed $22,830.00, 
the Executive Director will itemize the property to be sold and will certify that such 
property is no longer needed for Port District purposes.  

(b) Commission authorization is required when the net book value of such personal 
property exceeds $22,830.00. The Executive Director will itemize the property to be 
sold and will certify that such property is no longer needed for Port District purposes 
and seek Commission authorization.  

(c) Personal property will be disposed of in accordance with RCW 53.08.090.  

(d) No large block or lot of personal property having a net book value in excess of 
$22,830.00 will be broken into components of lesser value. These items can be 
disposed of after Commission authorization is obtained.  

(e) The sale of surplus personal property to Port officials, employees, or their family 
members will be restricted to public auctions, or consignment for bid, where the 
process is managed by a third-party vendor and all interested parties have equal 
opportunity in the bidding process.  

(f) The Executive Director will report the results of surplus personal property sales to 
the Commission no less than once per year. 

 G.  Annual Budgeting Activities  

 (1)  The Executive Director will annually develop a budget for the Port.  

(a) Commission approval shall be required, pursuant to RCW 53.35 for the next year’s 
statutory cash budget.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 19 
     

(b) With the adoption of the statutory cash budget, the Commission also approves 
expenditures for Ongoing Environmental Activities. The Commission shall review 
and confirm the five (5)-year Plan of Finance and Capital Investment Plan in 
conjunction with the statutory cash approval.  

 H.  Payment of Statutory Expenditures  

(1) The Executive Director is authorized to approve statutory expenditures incurred during 
Normal Port Operations. Types of expenditures include, but are not limited to, election 
expenses, excise, payroll and leasehold taxes, and State Auditor’s audit(s).  

VI.  POLICIES GOVERNING LEGAL ACTIVITIES  

The Executive Director, together with Port General Counsel as appropriate, shall be responsible for the Port 
policies and procedures necessary to oversee all legal services and litigation, in which the Port has an 
interest, direct or indirect; provided, however, the Executive Director shall first seek Commission approval 
prior to the Port initiating litigation as a party plaintiff or petitioner in state or federal court if the litigation 
is for any purpose other than (1) commercial unlawful detainer against Port tenants in breach of Port lease 
agreements, or (2) cost recovery against third parties pursuant to Ch. 70A.305 RCW (Model Toxics Control 
Act). For purposes of this Section, “litigation” shall mean the assertion of any position, right or responsibility 
by or against the Port which may reasonably lead to or has been filed in any court of general jurisdiction, 
be it state or federal, or any quasi-judicial or administrative forum, including arbitration.  

 A.  Retaining Independent Counsel/Experts/Investigators  

(1) The Executive Director may engage legal representation for the Port and such experts, 
investigators and/or independent counsel as may be necessary to the orderly preparation 
of potential and/or actual litigation in which the Port has a direct or indirect interest, 
without the procurement limitations otherwise prescribed in Section IV.E. of this Master 
Policy Directive.  

(2) Consistent with Section IV.E.(1) herein, the Commission reserves to itself the authority to 
approve Personal Services Contracts for Legal Services where the contract amount exceeds 
$350,000, initially or as a result of any amendment. Any such request for Legal Services 
should include the concurrence of the Port General Legal Counsel, who shall confirm to the 
Commission the basis for the request and provide such other information requested by the 
Commission, which consultation may be provided in Executive Session if consistent with 
state law, RCW 42.30.110(1)(i); provided, however, any Commission approval of that 
Contract shall take place by vote at a meeting open to the public.  

 B.  Settlement of Claims  

(1) The Executive Director is delegated to oversee Port policies and procedures for adjusting 
the final settlement of all Claims either against or on behalf of the Port.   

(2) Any Claim arising from Normal Port Operations and not exceeding $200,000 for a single 
Claim may be adjusted and settled by the Executive Director without prior review with the 
Commission. Claims arising from Public Works Contracts shall be settled pursuant to Section 
IV.B.(6); provided, however, any settlement that imposes upon the Port any affirmative 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 20 
     

duty (non-monetary obligation), injunctive relief, and/or which is memorialized by a federal 
Consent Decree or other regulatory enforceable Order shall require Commission approval.  

(3) The Port’s General Legal Counsel shall be consulted prior to settlement of any Claim in 
excess of $50,000 paid by the Port. Claims exceeding $200,000 to be paid by the Port shall 
be approved by Commission; claims exceeding $100,000 paid by the Port shall be reported 
to the Commission.  

(4) The Executive Director may approve settlements made by the Port’s insurers of Claims by 
or against the Port, where such settlement is payable by such insurer.  

 C.  Settlement of Litigation  

(1) The Executive Director and/or Port General Counsel is authorized to oversee any matter 
which is the subject of litigation, including engaging in settlement negotiations and/or 
reaching settlement, without prior Commission review under the following conditions:  

(a) The amount in controversy as stated in the pleadings or as reasonably estimated by 
Port General Legal Counsel does not exceed $150,000; provided, however, any 
settlement that imposes upon the Port any affirmative duty (non-monetary 
obligation), injunctive relief, and or which is memorialized by a federal Consent Decree 
or other regulatory enforceable Order shall require Commission approval; and  

(b) The Port’s General Counsel concurs with the proposed settlement terms.  

(2) Settlement of litigation matters by or against the Port greater than $150,000 require 
Commission authorization.  

(a) Regular Updates. At any stage of litigation where the potential claim by or against 
the Port is greater than $350,000, the Commission shall receive regular and 
substantive updates on the status of any proposed settlement discussion and 
terms and no later than three (3) business days prior to the date of any Commission 
Executive session briefing.    

(b) Timing. The Commission shall be informed of any proposed final litigation 
settlement terms no later than seven (7) business days prior to the date 
Commission approval is sought.   

(c) Form of Request. The request for final litigation settlement approval shall be 
reduced to writing and include the concurrence of the Port Legal Counsel, who shall 
confirm to the Commission the basis for the request and provide such other 
information requested by the Commission. Consistent with state law, RCW 
42.30.110(1)(i), Litigation settlement consultation between the Commission and 
Legal Counsel may be provided in Executive Session; provided, however, any 
Commission litigation settlement approval shall take place by vote at a meeting 
open to the public.  



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 21 
     

 D.  State and Federal Environmental Remediation Agreements  

(1) State and Federal environmental remediation agreements (“Agreements”) can include: 
Consent decrees, agreed orders, administrative orders issued by Ecology, orders on consent 
and voluntary cleanup program agreements but typically do not include MTCA grant 
applications, potential liable party notices or other general governmental notifications or 
project management documentation. These Agreements may involve advanced work; 
examples include research, soil and groundwater sampling and legal review which will 
inform the scope of work and schedule in the Agreement.  

(2) The Executive Director may authorize new Agreements if the estimated project costs, 
excluding any grant or other recovery funding but including any advanced work to 
implement the terms of the agreement and past remediation expenditures, are less than 
$350,000.  

(a) An estimate or range of estimated costs for the overall future environmental 
remediation associated with the agreement and future anticipated Agreements 
will be reviewed at the time of the request for authorization.  

(3) Commission authorization is required for Agreements where the estimated project costs to 
implement the terms of the Agreement, excluding any grant or other recovery funding but 
including any advanced work and past remediation expenditures, exceed $350,000.  

(a) An estimate or range of estimated costs for the overall future environmental 
remediation associated with the Agreement and future anticipated Agreements 
will be reviewed at the time of the request for authorization.  

(4) Project spending associated with Agreements shall be subject to the requirements set forth 
in Section IV.B.(2) pertaining to Projects.  

 E.  Policies and Procedures  

The Executive Director is authorized to adopt any administrative policies and procedures necessary 
to implement the delegations contained in this Master Policy Directive.   

 F.  Non-Discrimination and Equal Opportunity  

It is the basic policy of the Port to provide equal opportunity to the users of all Port services and 
facilities and all contracting entities. Specifically, the Port will not tolerate discrimination against 
persons on grounds of age, race, color, national origin/ancestry, ethnicity, religion, disability, use of 
protected sick or family medical leave, pregnancy, sex/gender, sexual orientation, whistleblower 
status, marital status, workers’ compensation use, gender expression or identity, political beliefs, 
military or veteran status, or any other protected status, as guaranteed by local, state, and federal 
laws. The equal opportunity principles described in this policy shall apply to the Port’s employees, 
customers, consultants, contractors, and vendors to the extent possible and as required by law. 
This policy is to be implemented by the Executive Director as specifically set forth in Port policies, 
equal employment opportunity and small business, women, minority, and disadvantaged business 
participation in Port contracts. The Executive Director shall annually report to the Commission on 
the implementation of this policy.   



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 22 
     

 

VII. POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE AND SALE OF MITIGATION CREDITS 
 

A. Scope 
 

The Port of Tacoma currently has one (1) certified Mitigation Bank (Upper Clear Creek Mitigation 
Bank) and two (2) Advance Mitigation Sites (Place of Circling Waters and Lower Wapato Creek 
Habitat Project).  The policies in this section govern the sale of Mitigation Bank credits to third 
parties and the use of Advance Mitigation Site credits for Port and/or Alliance projects.    

 

B. Use of Mitigation Credits 
 

(1) The preferred use of Mitigation Bank and Advance Mitigation credits is to provide a source 
of mitigation for unavoidable impacts of current and future Port and Alliance development 
and/or redevelopment Projects. 

 

(2) The Port Commission will only consider authorizing the sale of Mitigation Bank credits to 
third parties as provided for in Section C below if such credits are determined to be surplus 
to the Port’s needs pursuant to RCW 53.08.090 within a ten (10)-year planning horizon. 

 

C. Sale of Mitigation Bank Credits 
 

(1) Sale to Third Parties 
 

(a) Mitigation Bank credits will only be sold to third parties upon Commission approval 
of a resolution which both declares the credits to be surplus to the Port’s needs 
pursuant to RCW 53.08.090 and authorizes the sale. 

 

(b) The Commission may only approve a resolution authorizing the sale of surplus 
Mitigation Bank credits to third parties where the proposed sale meets all of the 
following criteria: 

 
(i) The credits to be purchased are being used for a public or private project 

which directly supports the Port’s mission and goals as expressed in the 
Port’s current Strategic Plan.  These types of projects include, but may not 
be limited to, cargo, logistics, and transportation. 

 
(ii) The proposed credits will be sold at fair market value, or at the Port’s 

anticipated replacement cost, whichever is greater.  Fair market value 
shall be established through an appraisal or equivalent analysis 
considering the market demand for credits within the relevant mitigation 
bank service area and within the nearby region, as of the time of the sale. 
The anticipated replacement cost is the anticipated cost to replace 
mitigation credits in the future calculated based on net present value of 
past projects and/or cost estimates for future projects with appropriate 
contingency. 

 



Exhibit A  

Resolution 2025-03-PT                                 Page | 23 
     

(iii) The sale must have a minimum value of $350,000 regardless of the 
number of credits sold. 

 
(iv) The Executive Director has reviewed the proposed sale for compliance 

with these requirements and recommended approval to the Commission. 
 

(2) Sale to the Alliance.  Subject to Commission approval, Mitigation Bank credits may be sold 
to the Alliance on the terms and conditions provided for in Article 3.2(f)(iii) of the Second 
Amended Alliance Charter for “Future Mitigation Sites”. 

 

D. Use of Advance Mitigation Site Credits 
 

(1) Use for Port Projects.  Use of Advance Mitigation Site credits for Port Projects is subject to 
Commission approval.  Commission approval for the use of Advance Mitigation Site credits 
may be provided in conjunction with a Project Authorization or through a separate 
Commission action. 

 

(2) Use for Alliance Projects.  The Port may offer the Alliance the opportunity to use Advance 
Mitigation Site credits on the terms and conditions provided for in Article 3.2(f)(iii) of the 
Second Amended Alliance Charter for “Future Mitigation Sites”.  Use of Advance Mitigation 
Site credits by the Alliance is subject to Commission approval. 

 
 

 



Resolution No. 3810(AM), Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 1 of 19 

 
 

 
 
 
  
 

Port of Seattle  

Commission 

 
Delegation of Responsibility  

and Authority  
to the Executive Director 

(DORA) 

 
April 3, 2023 

(Resolution No. 3810, Adopted January 24, 2023) 



Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive, Adopted January 24, 2023 Page 2 of 19  

Port of Seattle Commission Delegation of Responsibility and Authority to the 
Executive Director 

Preamble 

The Port of Seattle’s (“Port”) mission is to create jobs by advancing trade and commerce, 
promoting industrial growth, and stimulating economic development. The Century Agenda, 
adopted by the Port Commission, sets out strategies, objectives, and regional initiatives that 
guide the Port’s efforts in pursuit of this mission. 

The Port was established under Washington law as a public agency and engages in 
commercial enterprises that sustain a healthy economy. It is therefore endowed with both 
governmental and commercial powers. These dual capabilities require institutional 
frameworks that foster public accountability and empower direct conduct of commercial 
activity. The Commission aligns this Delegation of Responsibility and Authority to the 
Executive Director policy directive (‘General Delegation’) to the Century Agenda. 

The Port is committed to create economic opportunity for all, steward the environment 
responsibly, partner with surrounding communities, promote social responsibility, conduct 
itself transparently, and hold itself accountable. 

All authority of the Port of Seattle is vested with the Commission in its actions as a public 
body. Through this delegation policy, the Commission subsequently and hereby vests  
authority with the Executive Director and delineates Commission and Executive Director 
responsibilities. It sets expectations and lays the basis for the respective efforts of the 
Commission and Executive Director to be aligned, complementary, and effective.  

The Executive Director shall be empowered to execute projects, contracts and all other funding 
mechanisms as listed in the following sections, at the funding thresholds listed below, except in 
the subject matter areas where the Commission has spoken in the form of Policy Directives and 
Orders. In the subject matter areas where Commissioners have spoken, the Executive Director 
shall refer to the Policy Directive and/or Order to determine whether the Commission has 
expressed the clear intent to have that subject matter brought before the Commission in public 
session or other manner determined to be appropriate in consultation with the Commission 
President. 

Section I: Objectives of this General Delegation: 

A. Create Clarity and Alignment: This General Delegation clearly delineates the 
responsibility and authority of the Commission and the Executive Director: 

1. The Commission governs the Port, directs all intergovernmental policy 
functions, and oversees the Executive Director. 

2. Together, the Commission and Executive Director develop the Port’s overall 
vision, strategies, objectives, Policy Directives, long-range plans, major 
programs and budgets. 



Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive, Adopted January 24, 2023 Page 3 of 19  

3. The Executive Director executes the long-range plans and major programs, 
oversees all enterprises and supporting functions, and advises the 
Commission. 

 

B. Provide Transparency and Accountability: This General Delegation specifically 
allows for the development and adoption of Policy Directives to guide the Port’s 
efforts in pursuit of its strategic objectives. Policy Directives: 

1. Provide high-level guidance about how the Port does its work based on public 
values and applicable laws, rules and regulations. 

2. Inform operational policies regarding specific functions at the Port and set 
appropriate limits. 

3. Deliver standards that support the effective use of the internal audit function 
to verify compliance.  

 
C. Pursue the Century Agenda: This General Delegation emphasizes the use of 

Century Agenda (“CA”) Goals and Objectives as a means of pursuing the highest 
strategic aspirations for the Port of Seattle. Through review of Key Performance 
Indicators (“KPIs”) that measure progress towards CA Objectives as well as 
Executive Director Priorities, the Commission and Executive Director ensure 
alignment of the Port’s mandate, its aspirational and operational goals. The 
Century Agenda Goals, set by the Commission, set the long-term goals for all 
divisions and Centers of Expertise. The CA Objectives, set by the Executive Director 
and Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and approved by commission every 5 years, 
describe the mid-term objectives and activities that align to the CA Goals. Finally, 
the Executive Director Priorities describe the annual initiatives and programs that 
operationalize the CA Objectives. At all levels, KPIs and metrics are employed to 
monitor and track progress and performance. 

 

D.  Empower for Concerted Action: Clear responsibilities and authorities will enable 
the Commission and Executive Director to work in concert and be effective.  

Section II. Delegation of Responsibility and Authority 

A. Governing the Port of Seattle as its elected body, the Commission shall: 

1. Represent the Port to the citizens of King County and to other government 
bodies. 

2. Establish the Port’s positions regarding public policy, legislation, and 
regulation. 

3. Appoint the Executive Director. 



Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive, Adopted January 24, 2023 Page 4 of 19  

4. Conduct the annual performance review of the Executive Director and provide 
input to the Executive Director regarding the performance of those employees 
that report directly to the Executive Director. 
 

5. Set the Port’s annual property tax levy. 
 

6. Oversee the internal audit function. Consider and authorize any Port 
borrowed debt, as required by law. 

7. Reserve to itself all authority not herein delegated.  

B. Guiding the Port of Seattle and together with the Executive Director, the 
Commission shall: 

1. Develop, adopt, and refine the long-term goals of the Port and review mid-
term CA objectives and their KPIs. 

2. Develop, adopt, and amend Policy Directives. 

3. Direct the Port’s advocacy regarding public policies, legislation, and 
regulation. 

4. Consider and authorize new enterprises and initiatives. 

5. Consider, authorize, and modify major programs and projects. 

6. Consider and approve the settlement of any legal claim except as delegated 
to the Executive Director and General Counsel. 

7. Consider and adopt annual operating and capital budgets. 

8. Consider and adopt annual salary and benefit resolutions. 

9. Consider and approve collective bargaining agreements. 

10. Consider and authorize Interlocal Agreements. 

11. Consider and authorize the acquisition and sale of real property and other 
capital assets except as delegated    to the Executive Director. 

12. Consider and establish industrial development districts and utilities. 

13. Consider and approve assignment of defense counsel for any officer, 
employee   or agent of the Port as authorized by law, except as delegated in Section 
7.2.1.   

 



Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive, Adopted January 24, 2023 Page 5 of 19  

 
C. Serving the Port of Seattle and the Commission, the Executive Director shall: 

 
1. Prepare the Port’s reporting on Century Agenda Objectives and set Executive 

Director Priorities in strategic alignment with the objectives. 
 

2. Evaluate promising new enterprises and initiatives; prepare proposals as 
warranted. 

3. Develop major programs and projects and updates to major programs and 
projects. 

4. Prepare operating and capital budgets. 

5. Negotiate collective bargaining agreements. 

6. Manage and supervise all legal services, litigation, engagement of outside 
legal counsel and other experts (subject to the limitations of RCW 53.08.208), 
settlements and claims filed for and against the Port, or cause such activities 
to be carried out by the General Counsel. 

7. Evaluate possible acquisitions and sales of real property and other capital 
assets; prepare proposals as warranted. 

8. Evaluate possible establishment of industrial development districts and 
utilities; prepare proposals as warranted. 

9. Report regularly to the Commission on delegated responsibilities, industry 
trends, and economic developments.  

D. Managing the Port of Seattle in keeping with the above, the Executive Director 
shall: 

1. Represent the Port to customers and industry stakeholders. 

2. Carry out all policy directives, long-range plans, major programs, and 
implement projects. 

3. Execute contracts and other necessary documents. 

4. Select and manage all staff and outside resources necessary to carry out long-
range plans, major programs and projects, maintain facilities, and provide 
supporting functions. 

5. Determine the organizational structure of enterprises and their supporting 
functions. 

6. Administer collective bargaining agreements. 



Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive, Adopted January 24, 2023 Page 6 of 19  

7. Administer Interlocal Agreements, and execute where authorized. 
 

8. Administer the payment of short-term liabilities and other expenses. 
 

9. Establish operational, administrative, monetary, and contractual policies, 
delegations, rules, tariffs, regulations and procedures in accordance with this 
Delegation, adopted Policy Directives and all applicable law and regulation. 

10. Establish and regularly report to the Commission on CA Objectives, CA KPIs 
and Executive Director Priorities, as necessary. 

11. Approve travel by employees and other authorized representatives. 

12. Apply for and accept grants and other funds from federal, state or local 
governments. 

13. Prepare and submit applications for permits, regulatory approvals, 
entitlements, and other authorizations associated with facilities and projects, 
agree to permit conditions and mitigation, and fulfill permit requirements and 
obligations. Execute permit-related documents in furtherance of the 
implementation of permits, including restrictive covenants and hold harmless 
agreements and agreements for expediting processing for permits.  

14. Carry out additional responsibilities as may be further delegated. 

15. Determine, sell and convey Port personal, tangible, and intangible property, 
including mitigation credits, in accordance with any limits set by law. 

16. Provide resources for the preparation for and management of Port borrowed 
debt.  

17. Negotiate and obtain appropriate policies of insurance to cover Port property, 
liability, employee coverages, and other areas appropriately included within 
a comprehensive insurance program. The Executive Director is authorized to 
approve changes or modifications within that program or individual policies 
including provisions for self-insurance or deductibles.   

 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 7 of 19 
 
 

Section 1. REAL PROPERTY AGREEMENTS 

1.1 Types of Agreements: The directives in this Section 1 apply to all agreements or 
transactions for use of Port real property, including but not limited to leases, 
concession agreements, rental agreements, operating agreements, berthing 
agreements, tenant reimbursement agreements, licenses, easements, permits, rights  
of entry and other use agreements (all referred to collectively as "Real Property 
Agreements" or at times referred to as "Agreements") or to agreements for the Port's 
use of real property owned by others.  

1.2 General Real Property Agreement Policies 

1.2.1 Except as otherwise provided in this General Delegation, all real property of the Port 
shall be used pursuant to an appropriate written Agreement approved and executed 
as authorized by the Port Commission or Executive Director and accompanied by a 
security deposit in accordance with applicable law and Port Real Estate Policies and 
Procedures. 

1.2.2 Prior to the execution of Agreements, the Executive Director shall have authority to 
negotiate such Agreements; obtain appropriate appraisals where necessary; 
provide for appropriate security deposit; submit Agreements to the Port's General 
Counsel's office for approval in writing; and follow all other applicable laws and 
Port Real Estate Policies and Procedures. 

1.2.3 Real property conveyances between the Port and other governmental entities.  
Notwithstanding any other provision herein, delegation authority for agreements 
between the Port and other governmental entities, where the primary purpose of 
the agreement is the conveyance of real property, by deed, easement, lease, license 
or similar instrument, shall be governed by the provisions of this Section 1. 

1.3 Real Property Agreement Procedures. The Executive Director is authorized to perform 
the following actions, including executing agreements incidental to such actions, 
without Commission approval: 

1.3.1 Agreements with a term of five years or less: Any Agreement having a term 
(including any tenant or Port options) of five years’ duration or less may be 
approved and executed by the Executive Director provided that: (i) the Port's 
standard Agreement form is used or, if no standard form exists, the form used 
has been approved by the Port's General Counsel's office; (ii) the Agreement 
provisions conform to the Port's real estate policies and procedures; and (iii) the 
Agreement includes no Port obligation to make a specific, noncontingent monetary 
payment or reimbursement exceeding One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).  

1.3.2 Assignments, subleases, consents to assignments and subleases, amendments, 
approvals, or options for Agreements with a term of five years or less: Assignments, 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 8 of 19 
 
 

subleases, consents, amendments, approvals or options for Agreements with a term 
of five years or less may be approved and executed by the Executive Director, but 
only if (a) any new term extension, option or options do not result in an extension 
of the original term of the Agreement (including original tenant or Port options) 
beyond five years; (b) any rental adjustments (increases or decreases) consistent 
with the Port's real estate policies and procedures are made; and (c) there is no Port 
obligation to make a specific, noncontingent monetary payment or reimbursement 
cumulatively exceeding One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).  

 

1.3.3 Assignments, subleases, consents to assignments and approvals, amendments or 
approvals for Agreements with a term in excess of five years. Such Assignments, 
subleases, consents, amendments or approvals are authorized to be executed by 
the Executive Director, but only if (a) the term, rental rates, environmental 
provisions, and the square footage of the premises under the Agreement (excluding 
increases or decreases to the square footage of the premises not exceeding 10% of 
the original square footage) remain unchanged; (b) the required security is not 
decreased (excluding pro rata decreases resulting from permissible decreases in 
square footage); and (c) there is no Port obligation to make a specific, 
noncontingent monetary payment or reimbursement exceeding One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000). Consents to Assignments and Subleases, and amendments to correct 
administrative errors may be approved and executed by the Executive Director.  

 

1.3.4 Easements, licenses, access permits or other rights of entry or use agreements over 
Port property. Where the easements, licenses, permits or other rights of entry or 
use agreements: (a) either relate to or benefit the Port's operations, or do not have 
a term exceeding five years; and (b) do not obligate the Port to make a specific, 
noncontingent monetary payment or reimbursement exceeding One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) and do not deprive the Port of substantial use of the property. 
Permanent easements which deprive the Port of substantial use of Port property 
require Port Commission approval (unless previously approved as part of a larger 
action) and must comply with the appraisal requirements of Section 2.  

 

1.3.5 Permanent easements over Port property for installation or construction of utilities 
or street improvement infrastructure.  The Executive Director may approve and 
execute permanent easements over Port property for installation or construction of 
utilities (including stormwater, sewer, electrical or gas) or for street improvement 
infrastructure (including sidewalks, signage or signaling) provided the permanent 
easement either (a) does not deprive the Port of substantial use of Port property; or 
(b) consists of Port property not exceeding 1,000 square feet and complies with the 
appraisal requirements of Section 2. 

1.3.6 Easements over the property of others. The Executive Director may approve and 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 9 of 19 
 
 

execute easements in favor of the Port over the property of others, provided such 
easements either (a) are avigation easements in support or protection of airport 
operations or (b) include no Port obligation to make a specific, noncontingent 
monetary payment or reimbursement exceeding One Million Dollars ($1,000,000). 

1.3.7 Agreements (other than easements) for the Port's use of the property of others, 
including leases, rental agreements, operating agreements, licenses, access 
permits, street use permits, rights of entry and other use agreements. The Executive 
Director may approve and execute Agreements (other than easements) where the 
Agreement includes no Port obligation to make a specific, noncontingent monetary 
payment or reimbursement exceeding One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).  

1.4 Executive Director to ensure compliance. The Executive Director is charged with the 
responsibility to ensure that all Agreement terms are complied with and is authorized 
to take necessary measures to ensure compliance or to protect the Port's legal 
position, including but not limited to subjecting Agreements to Port internal audits, 
termination of Agreements and the giving of all notices provided for in Agreements.  

1.5 Real property agreement security and insurance. The Executive Director is 
authorized to take all necessary actions in connection with Agreement surety bonds, 
letters of credit, cash deposits or other legal security ("Agreement Security") and 
insurance coverage required pursuant to any Agreements of the Port, including, but 
not limited to, the following: 

1.5.1 Release Agreement Security: (i) where adequate substitute Agreement Security has 
been provided, and the Agreement is not in default; or (ii) when an Agreement has 
expired or is terminated (for other than a default). 

1.5.2 Approve terms of any Agreement Security or insurance submitted in fulfillment of 
the requirements of any Agreement, including substitute or replacement 
Agreement Security or insurance coverage. 

1.5.3 Approve (i) substitutions, replacements and modifications of Agreement Security 
or insurance coverage that are not inconsistent with Agreement terms, and (ii) 
release any insurance company, bonding company or financing institution when 
acceptable substitute or replacement insurance coverage has been provided. 

Section 2. REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS AND SALES; STREET VACATIONS 

2.1 Appraisals. The Executive Director is authorized to obtain appropriate appraisals for 
use in evaluating or negotiating any proposed Port acquisition, sale, lease, 
permanent easement or other interest in real property.  

2.2 Acquisitions. After the Commission authorizes the Port's acquisition of real property 
by negotiated purchase or condemnation, the Executive Director is authorized to take 
all necessary steps, including executing all required closing documents, to secure 
title of such property for the Port. The acquisition price (i) of individual properties and 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 10 of 19 
 
 

(ii) of several properties under the same ownership (when acquired in the same 
transaction), shall in no case exceed the Port's appraisal by more than ten percent 
(10%) without further specific Commission approval.  

2.3 Sales. When the Commission authorizes the sale of Port real property in accordance 
with State law and Commission policy, the Executive Director is authorized to take all 
other necessary steps, including executing all required closing documents and 
executing and delivering conveyance instruments, to finalize the sale.  

2.4 Street Vacations. The Executive Director is authorized to make application for 
vacation of city or county streets or roads and to take all other steps necessary to 
acquire a fee interest in streets or roads ancillary to Port development, if the 
estimated acquisition costs are less than or equal to Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000).  

Section 3. PROJECTS 

3.1 Projects shall be authorized utilizing the procedures outlined below. Projects may be 
either capital or expense.  

3.2 Project Authorization 

3.2.1 Preliminary Project Work. Preliminary project work includes, but is not limited to, 
such activities as planning, programming, concept design up to 30% design, 
surveys, geotechnical investigations, and/or market analyses. The Executive 
Director is authorized to perform such preliminary project work up to Two Million 
Dollars ($2,000,000) without prior Commission approval, even if the budget of the 
Project is expected to exceed Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000).  

3.2.2 Total Project Cost Less than $2 Million. For Projects where the estimated total 
project budget is less than or equal to Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000), the 
Executive Director is authorized to take all steps necessary, including the 
execution of all contracts, including Public Works, Alternative Public Work 
procedures in accordance with RCW 39.10, Goods and Services, Personal 
Services, Professional Services, other consulting services, and any other types of 
contracts or agreements in furtherance of the Project. If the Project cannot be 
completed for a total of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) or less, Commission 
authorization, as set forth more specifically below, shall be required before 
exceeding the Two Million Dollar ($2,000,000) threshold. Projects shall not be 
broken into units or accomplished in phases in order to avoid the requirement for 
Commission authorization that would otherwise apply to Projects more than Two 
Million Dollars ($2,000,000).  

3.2.3 Total Project Cost More than $2 Million. For Projects where the estimated total 
Project budget is more than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000), Commission 
approval of the Project budget is required except for preliminary project work 
under Section 3.2.1 above. The Executive Director is authorized to take all steps 
necessary, including the execution of all contracts, including Public Works, 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 11 of 19 
 
 

Alternative Public Work procedures in accordance with RCW 39.10, Goods and 
Services, Personal Services, Professional Services, other consulting services, and 
any other types of contracts or agreements in furtherance of a Commission 
approved Project budget. 

3.2.4 Project Changes. Additional Commission authorization shall be required if a 
Project cannot be completed for less than or equal to Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000), or within the amount authorized by Commission (including 
contingency), prior to exceeding either Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) or the 
approved budget. Project changes, including amendments and change orders, 
within budget shall comply with CPO policies.  

3.2.5 Authorization for Emergency Work. When any emergency requires the immediate 
execution of a contract for work, the Executive Director is authorized to make a 
finding of the existence of such emergency and execute any contracts necessary 
to respond to the existing emergency. For purposes of this section "emergency" 
means unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the municipality that 
either: (a) presents a real, immediate threat to the proper performance of 
essential functions; or (b) will likely result in material loss or damage to property, 
bodily injury, or loss of life if immediate action is not taken. The Executive Director 
shall comply with any legal requirements related to any contracts or agreements 
issued under the declaration of the emergency and otherwise keep the 
Commission informed of the development of the emergency situation and the 
progress of any contracts and agreements executed to remedy the emergency. The 
Executive Director shall provide notice of this Emergency Work to the public.  

 
3.2.6 Authorization for Critical Work. Under circumstances not constituting a 

legally-defined emergency, but otherwise requiring immediate action to avoid 
significant adverse consequences to public health, safety or property, the 
Commission authorizes the Executive Director to spend up to Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000) to prevent potentially significant adverse consequences to public 
health, safety or property. The Executive Director shall have authority to spend 
the funds if: (i) the circumstances are such that a true emergency as defined by 
RCW 39.04.280 is substantially likely to develop unless action is taken; or (ii) any 
delay in addressing the situation will likely result in significant cost increases or 
adverse schedule impacts to the Port, other public agencies or private property 
owners; and (iii) where prior Commission authorization cannot, even on an 
expedited basis, be obtained. When the Executive Director authorizes Critical 
Work to be undertaken, he or she shall notify the Commission as soon as 
practicable of his or her action, the amount of money spent and obtain 
Commission ratification at the next public meeting. The Executive Director shall 
also provide notice of this Critical Work to the public.  

 
 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 12 of 19 
 
 

3.2.7 Budget Transfers. The Executive Director is authorized to transfer budget 
funds for transferring scope of work from one executed contract to another for 
Projects that have been authorized under the following conditions: 

(i) If all Projects affected have been previously approved by the 
Commission or the Executive Director; and 

(ii) If the amount of transfer is less than or equal to $2,000,000; and 

(iii) If doing so results in a cost or time savings, or other tangible benefit to 
the Project. 

All such transfers will be reported to the Commission as soon as is practicable. 
All budget transfers more than $2,000,000 must be approved by the Commission. 

Any transfer not meeting all of the above conditions will require Commission 
approval.  

3.2.8 Small Works Construction Contracts and Job Order Contracts. The Executive 
Director may, without Commission approval, take all action to execute and 
administer these contracts in compliance with RCW 53.08.120,  
RCW 39.10.420-460, and Port policies and procedures. 

Section 4. CONTRACT AND PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATION 

4.1 Subject to the requirements of this Section, the Executive Director is authorized to 
negotiate, manage and execute all aspects of Port contract administration and 
procurement activities in order to conduct the Port's business, provided that all 
applicable laws and Port policies are met.  

4.2 Bid/proposal protests shall be resolved in accordance with the administrative 
procedure in the Port's standard contract specifications or as established by Port 
policies and procedures from time to time.  

4.3 The Executive Director is authorized to approve competition waivers consistent with 
applicable federal and state laws and internal Port policies. 

 

Section 5. GOODS, SERVICES, AND OTHER AGREEMENTS  

5.1 Personal Services. 

5.1.1 The Port of Seattle's procurement policy for personal services contracts, as 
adopted in accordance with RCW 53.19.090, promotes full and open competition, 
transparent procurement practices, and compliance with all laws. All Port of 
Seattle personal service policies and procedures shall specifically conform to 
Chapter 53.19 RCW. 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 13 of 19 
 
 

5.1.2 In accordance with RCW 53.19.060, substantial changes in the scope of work 
specified in the contract or which are substantial additions to the scope of work 
specified in the formal solicitation document shall be submitted to the 
Commission for a determination as to whether the change warrants the work to 
be awarded as a new contract. An amendment or amendments to personal service 
contracts, if the value of the amendment or amendments, whether singly or 
cumulatively, exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the value of the original contract 
must be filed with the Commission and made available for public inspection prior 
to the proposed starting date of services under the amendments. The Executive 
Director is authorized to execute any amendments which meet the requirements 
of this Section 5.1.2.  

5.2 Contracts. The Executive Director shall have the responsibility for following all 
requirements and procedures in connection with all contracts. Goods and purchased 
services may be acquired on the open market, pursuant to published tariffs, or by 
competitive bidding when required, for the normal maintenance and operations of the 
Port without prior Port Commission approval so long as, where appropriate, such 
acquisitions shall be approved as a part of normal monthly expenses. The Executive 
Director may execute contracts that are not associated with a Project, including Public 
Works, Alternative Public Work procedures in accordance with RCW 39.10, Goods and 
Services, Personal Services, Professional Services, other consulting services, and any 
other types of contracts or agreements so long as the total price of contracts under a 
single procurement does not exceed Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000). 

5.3 Other Agreements. The Executive Director may execute any other agreements involving 
an exchange of goods or services with public or private entities that do not fall within 
any other specific delegation, and that promote operational and/or logistical 
efficiency, and amendments to such agreements, so long as any cumulative Port 
noncontingent monetary obligation under the agreement is less than or equal to Two 
Million Dollars ($2,000,000) and the General Counsel has reviewed and approved such 
agreement. 

5.4.  Non-Disclosure Agreements. The Executive Director may execute Non-Disclosure 
Agreements.  

5.5 Reimbursements to Airport Tenants. The Executive Director may approve 
reimbursements to Airport tenants for work performed by such tenants to improve 
Airport premises so long as the total reimbursement amount is less than or equal to 
Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000). The Executive Director shall implement procedures 
for the reimbursement of Airport tenant improvements. Such procedures must include 
allowable cost categories and provide for their consistent application among all 
tenants.  

 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 14 of 19 
 
 

Section 6. UTILIZATION OF PORT CREWS 

6.1 The Executive Director is authorized to use necessary Port and other workers for 
operations and maintenance of facilities pursuant to Commission approved labor 
agreements and the Pacific Coast Longshoremen's and Warehousemen's, Clerks', and 
Foremen's agreements (provided longshore labor may be hired through stevedoring 
contractors to provide services offered in Port tariffs.) The Executive Director is 
authorized to apply for and maintain Port membership in the Pacific Maritime 
Association.  

6.2 The Executive Director shall be responsible for obtaining prior Commission approval for 
work projects which are new construction or major modifications of Port facilities to be 
carried out by Port crews when the total estimated cost is more than Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000). 

6.3 The Executive Director may authorize expense maintenance projects that are not new 
construction projects or contracts or that in any way add to the capacity or function of 
a facility, whether performed by Port crews or by contractors, up to a value of Two 
Million dollars ($2,000,000).  

Section 7. LEGAL SERVICES, CLAIMS AND OTHER REPRESENTATION 

7.1 Management Authority. The Executive Director and the General Counsel shall be 
responsible for management and supervision of all legal services retained by the Port, 
except for legal services directly engaged by the Commission, and for all litigation in 
which the Port has an interest, direct or indirect. For purposes of this section, 
"litigation" shall mean the assertion of any position, right or responsibility by or against 
the Port (or in which the Port may have an interest) which has been filed in any court 
or tribunal external to the Port with jurisdiction, be it state or federal, international or 
any quasi-judicial, administrative or arbitration forum.  

7.2 Legal Services. The Executive Director is authorized to retain, or to cause to be retained 
by the General Counsel, attorneys or law firms, or other appropriate legal 
representatives as necessary, to provide (or assist in the provision of) legal services 
without limitations otherwise prescribed in Sections 3 or 5 above.  

7.2.1 Subject to the limitations of RCW 53.08.208, counsel may be retained whenever 
any litigation is instituted against any person who is or was an officer, employee, 
or agent of the Port arising out of the performance or failure of performance of 
duties for, or employment with the Port; provided that, if any such litigation 
includes allegations of fraud or criminal activity, retention of counsel shall be 
subject to Commission approval. All such retentions shall be reported annually 
by the General Counsel to the Commission.  

7.2.2 Payment for legal or related services generally shall be by fixed annual retainers 
or by reimbursement not-to-exceed established hourly rates plus expenses. 
Fixed annual retainers shall be set by the Executive Director, or caused to be set 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 15 of 19 
 
 

by the General Counsel, based on the level of services required and the current 
cost of legal services in this area; provided that any such annual retainer or total 
annual payment for services in any legal matter which is more than One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000) shall be reported annually by the General Counsel to the 
Commission.  

7.3 Engagement of Experts. The Executive Director may engage, or cause to be engaged 
through the General Counsel, such experts as may be necessary to the orderly 
preparation of litigation or evaluation or support of legal matters in which the Port has 
a direct or indirect interest, without limitations otherwise prescribed in Sections 3 or 5 
above. Such engagement shall be upon  authorization given by the General Counsel after 
having been satisfied that such expenditure is necessary to the adequate evaluation, 
support, preparation or representation of the Port's position in such litigation or other 
legal matters.  

7.4 Settlement. Any matter which is the subject of                     litigation may be compromised and 
settled by the Executive Director, or caused to be settled by the General Counsel, 
provided that the settlement amount paid by the Port (or, in the case of a claim being 
pursued by the Port, the amount of the claim to be waived, released or compromised by 
the Port) is less than or equal to One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) and that the General 
Counsel shall provide an opinion to the Executive Director that such compromise and 
settlement is justified on the basis of the following:  

7.4.1 Litigation against the Port. 

(i) The likelihood that a judgment rendered in litigation would be in the 
amount claimed or higher than the amount claimed, or that there is 
reasonable cause to believe that there is considerable exposure of liability 
for the Port; or 

(ii) The likelihood that the expenses involved in litigation would be 
unnecessarily          high in relation to the amount claimed, or the likely result.  

7.4.2 Litigation on behalf of the Port. 

(i) That the determination to settle the claim outweighs the risks of 
litigation or other alternatives; or 

(ii) That the settlement of the claim would provide prompt payment to the 
Port and eliminate extensive delays; or 

(iii) That the proposed offer of settlement is reasonable in light of the claim 
asserted.  

7.5 Adjustment and Settlement of Claims. Except for claims which are in litigation, the 
Executive Director shall be responsible for, or shall cause the General Counsel to be 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 16 of 19 
 
 

responsible for, the observance of necessary procedures whereby the adjustment and 
final settlement of all claims, either against or on behalf of the Port, shall be carried 
out. For purposes of this section, "Claim" shall mean the assertion of any position, 
right or responsibility by or against the Port, but not including: 

(i) Accounts receivable to the extent covered in Section 8, or 

(ii) Claims asserted by or against the Port which are in litigation as that term 
is  defined in Section 7.1. above.  

 
7.5.1 No claims against the Port shall be considered unless and until proper notice 

and credible evidence of loss or damage has been provided by the claimant to 
the Port. 

 
7.5.2 Claims which in the opinion of the General Counsel have the potential to exceed 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) shall be reported annually by the General 
Counsel to the Commission.  

7.5.3 Any single claim less than or equal to One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) to be 
paid or waived, released or compromised by the Port may be adjusted and 
settled by the Executive Director, or caused to be adjusted and settled by the 
General Counsel provided that all of the following conditions are met: 

7.5.3.1 That the General Counsel shall provide an opinion to the Executive 
Director that payment of the claim is justified on the basis of the 
following: 

(i) Claims against the Port: 

(a) The likelihood that the Port is or could be found liable; or 

(b) The likelihood that a judgment rendered in litigation would be in 
the amount claimed, or higher than the amount claimed, or that 
there is reasonable cause to believe that there is considerable 
exposure of liability for the Port; or 

(c) The likelihood that the expenses involved in litigation would be 
unnecessarily high in relation to the amount claimed, or the 
likely result. 

(ii) Claims on behalf of the Port: 

(a) That the determination to settle the claim outweighs the risk of 
litigation or other alternatives; or 

(b) That the settlement of the claim would provide prompt payment 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 17 of 19 
 
 

to the Port and eliminate extensive delays; or 

(c) The proposed offer of settlement is reasonable in light of the 
claim asserted.  

Section 8. ADJUSTMENT AND WRITE-OFF OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

8.1 The Executive Director is authorized to establish procedures to: (i) make adjustments 
to accounts receivable for valid operational reasons which do not constitute a gift of 
public funds; or (ii) to write off any uncollectible account which is less than or equal 
to Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000).  

8.2 Prior to adjusting or writing off of any account receivable or uncollectible debt, the 
Executive Director shall be satisfied that every reasonable effort has been made by 
the staff to resolve or accomplish the collection of the account. For those accounts 
that fail to make payment, the Executive Director shall authorize the General 
Counsel to bring action in courts of law, or if more appropriate, authorize the Chief 
Financial Officer, to assign the same to collection agencies in an attempt to collect 
such accounts. If, after attempting all normal account collection procedures, the 
account is still uncollectible after 180 days or more, the Executive Director shall be 
authorized to provide for writing off such an account. 

8.3 Any amount in an account in excess of Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000) 
which is deemed to be uncollectible shall be referred to the Commission for final 
approval of writing off that account.  
 

Section 9. SALE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY  

9.1.  Section 53.08.090 of the Revised Code of Washington authorizes the Commission to 
delegate to the Executive Director, by Commission resolution, the authority to sell 
and convey Port personal property up to an annual limit updated each year. State law 
requires that this authority be renewed from year to year by Resolution. The Executive 
Director or their delegate must itemize and list the property to be sold or conveyed 
and make written certification to the Commission that the listed property is no longer 
needed for port district purposes prior to any such sale or conveyance. The 
Commission must authorize the sale of Port property over the allowed statutory 
amount. 

9.2.  In no case shall surplus personal property of the Port be sold to any Port 
Commissioner or Port employee or to members of their immediate families without 
the specific approval of the Commission. 

 

 



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 18 of 19 
 
 

Section 10. GENERAL INTERPRETATION 

10.1 Statutory References. All statutory references in this Resolution shall mean the cited 
statute as it existed on the date of adoption of this Resolution or as such statute may 
be hereafter amended, succeeded, modified or legally construed from time to time. 

 
10.2 Dollar Limits. All dollar limits included in this delegation or inclusive of all charges 

and taxes, including sales tax. 
 

10.3 Definitions. The Executive Director is authorized to modify, edit, add and delete 
definitions within this Resolution. The Commission shall be notified of any changes 
in writing.  

10.3.1 "Goods and Services" means natural resources; equipment; materials; 
supplies; or other finished goods or products; utilities and utilities-related 
services (including services provided by public agencies); and maintenance, 
security and other miscellaneous services (excluding services provided by 
employees covered by collective bargaining agreements to which the Port is 
signatory).  

10.3.2 “Interlocal Agreement” means an agreement in accordance with RCW 39.34 
for joint or cooperative action between public agencies. 

10.3.3 "Personal Services" means those services as defined in RCW 53.19.010(6), as 
that law may in the future be amended or superseded.  

10.3.4 "Professional Services" means those services within scope of Section 
39.80.020(5) of the Revised Code of Washington, as the same may in the future 
be amended or superseded.  

10.3.5 “Project” means requirements undertaken to provide a product or service. 
Projects do not, however, include regular, recurring, or routine work 
associated with the day-to-day management and normal operations of the 
Port. 

10.3.6 "Public Work" means construction, alteration, repair and improvement 
meeting the definition set forth in Section 39.04.010(4) of the Revised Code of 
Washington, as that law may in the future be amended or superseded.  

10.3.7 "Purchased Services" means those services as defined in RCW 53.19.010(8), 
as that law may in the future be amended or superseded.  

10.3.8 “RCW” means the Revised Code of Washington. 
  



Resolution No. 3810, Delegation of Responsibility and Authority Policy Directive Page 19 of 19 
 
 

Revision History 

January 24, 2023 Resolution No. 3810 Adopted.  Repeals Resolution Nos. 3605, 3628, 
3704, and all preceding resolutions pertaining to the Commission’s 
‘Delegation of Responsibility and Authority to the Executive Director’ 
policy directive and adopts the new delegation policy directive as set 
forth in Exhibit A of Resolution No. 3810. The re-codified policy 
directive of the Commission generally increases delegation authority 
from $300,000 to $2,000,000, with exceptions as outlined, and makes 
other changes. 
















	01 - 02-09-2026 Commission Meeting Agenda WORD
	Commission Meeting
	Monday, February 9, 2026

	02 - Bills and Vouchers - January 2026
	03 - Commodities Unlimited Cover Memo
	04 - Lease Amendment #17
	05 - Cover Memo - Electric Ferry Demand Study (2-9-26)
	06 - Ferry Study PPT pdf
	10 - Proposed Ferry Demand Study Des Moines Seattle updated 12.6.19
	11 - Cover Memo - Delegation of Authority (2-9-26)
	12 - Delegation of Auth PPT pdf
	13 - Commission Actions
	14 - Commission Policies (2-9-26)
	15 - Resolution 2021-04 - Executive Policies
	16 - Resolution 2019-06 - Contracts and Acquisitions Policies
	17 - Resolution 2019-07 - Real Property Policies
	18 - Resolution 2015-16 - Financial Policies
	19 - Resolution 2013-17 - Environmental Policies
	20 - 2025-03-PT - PoT Master Policy Directive
	21 - New Port of Seattle DORA
	Preamble
	Section I: Objectives of this General Delegation:
	Section II. Delegation of Responsibility and Authority
	Section 1. REAL PROPERTY AGREEMENTS
	Section 2. REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS AND SALES; STREET VACATIONS
	Section 3. PROJECTS
	Section 4. CONTRACT AND PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATION
	Section 6. UTILIZATION OF PORT CREWS
	Section 7. LEGAL SERVICES, CLAIMS AND OTHER REPRESENTATION
	Section 8. ADJUSTMENT AND WRITE-OFF OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
	Section 10. GENERAL INTERPRETATION

	22 - Excerpts from WPPA Seminar



